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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

FRANK HALL, individually and on behalf :
of all others similarly situated
Civil Action No.:18-1833(FLW)
Plaintiff,
OPINION
VS.

JOHNSON & JOHNSONet al,

Defendant.

WOLFSON, Chief Judge:

Presently before the Court is a motion by Defendants Johnson & Johnson (“J&J” or the
“Company”), Alex Gorsky (“Gorsky”), Dominic Caruso (“Caurso”), Sandra Peterson
(“Peterson”), Carol Goodrich (“Goodrich”), Joan Casalvieri (“CasaljieMichael Sneed
(“Sneed”), and Tara GlasgoftGlasgow”) (collectively, “Defendants”), to dismiss Lead Plaintiff
San Diego County Employees Retirement Association’s (“Plaintiff’) AmendedsCAction
Complaint pursuant téederal Rules of Civil Procedure 9(b) and 12(b)(®)this putative class
action secuties litigation, Plaintiff alleges that it, and other similarly situated investors, asedh
J&J stock betweerrebruary 2013 and October 201&e “Class Period”), and that Defendants
violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (thehdfge Act”),15 U.S.C. 8
78j(b), and Rule 10 promulgated thereunder7 C.F.R. § 240.16#. FurthermorePlaintiff
avers that DefendantSorsky, Caruso, Peterson, Goodrich, Sneed, Glasgow, and Casalvieri
(collectively, “Individual Defendants”) violated Section 20(a) of the ExchangelAdU.S.C. §

78t(a). Plaintiff allegesthat Defendants fraudulently inflated the value of J&ikby issuing
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false and misleading statemerats part of a longunning scheme to conceal the trdtbm
investorghatthe Company’s talproducts were contaminated with asbesdas, that Plaintiff and
other investors relied on these material misrepresentations and omissionsdettimeént.In the
instant matterDefendants move to dismiss the Amended Complaint @basis that the alleged
misstatements and omissions werematerial, thaPlaintiff hasfailed to plead with particularity
that Defendants acted with scienter, #mat Plaintiff has not sufficiently alleged loss causation

For the reasons set forth beloldefendants motion isgranted in part and denied in
part. Plaintiffs Section 10(b) and Rul&0b-5 claims are limited to those stemming from
Defendants’ statements regardihg safety of itgalc productsihe “asbestofree” nature of its
talc, and the Company’s commitment to product safepyality assurance, and researeind
Plaintiff's claims based upon Defendants’ alleged misstatements abetalifiey of the Product
Liability lawsuits are dismissed-urthermore, because Plaintiff has adequately alleged facts
suggesting a strong inference of scienter as to defendants Caruso, Peterson, anth&eeed
defendants are dismissed from the lawsuit.

. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The following allegations are taken from the Amended Complaint (“AC”) ared
assumedo be true for purposes of this motion to dismiss.

A. Defendants

J&J is a multinational company engaged in research and development, maimgfzetak
sale of a broad range of healthcare product 20. J&J hasthree business segments:

pharmaceuticalmedical device, andconsumer. Id. The products produced by th@onsumer

! The Amended Complaint spans approximately 250 pages, plus exhibits, and includes numerous
detailed factual allegations describing J&J's alleged tyegr long fraudulent scheme. The
following factual background does not purport to be an exhaustive sunofaliyf those facts,

but rather recounts the most salient allegations.
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segment includ Baby Powder(“Baby Powder”) and “Showeito-Shower? (“Showekrto-
Shower”) (collectively, the “Talc Products”), which are both made from cosmetic taléd. at
1148, 49.

Each of the Individual defendants & was,a senior J&J executive and, along with other
personnel, allegedlyelped perpetuate the Coany’s fraudulent scheme over its investbrs.

Alex Gorsky is the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of J&J
Id. at 21.He has served as CEO since April 26, 2GIlhas been the Chairman since December
28, 2012.1d. Gorsky began his career at J&J in 1988&d has served in various leadership roles
in the Company prior to being selected as CHD.

Dominic Caruso was the Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO”) of the Company from ga0I7
his retirement in September 2018, and also served as the Executive Vice Phesidépiril 2016
until his retirement.Id. at 122.

SandraPeterson was Group Worldwide Chair at J&J from 2012 to October Réie3son
the first outsideto ever join the Company’s Executi@@mmittee, isllegedly a “corporate fixer”
who was hired tdix quality and supply chain issueshich the Company was facihgading up

to the Class Periodld. at{23. However, on June 22, 2018, just over two moatiter the first

2 J&J produced Showdo Shower until 2012, after which the brand was sold to Valeant
Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. AC 149 n.5

3 Theconsumesegments housed within a subsidiary of J&J, Johnson & Johnson Consumer, Inc.
(“JJICI7). JJCI isthe entity primarily responsible for the formulation, manufacture, testing,
marketing, and sale of the TdRroducts In order to avoid confusion, for the purposes of this
Opinion, the Court will refer to both JJCI and J&J as J&J.

4 In addition to Individual Defendants, Plaintiff’'s Complaint and ExHibib Plaintiff's Brief in
Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“Pl. Br.”) identify numerous other J&log@es
who purportedly played a role in the Company’s alleged scheme. AGATECF No. 483 Ex.
1, “J&J Personnel Involved in J&J’'s Longstanding Fraudulent Scheme.”
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jury verdict against J&J in a case alleging harm from asbestos in the CompaltyRroducts
the Company announced Petersortrement, effectiv®©ctober 1, 2018Id. at 211.

Carol Goodrichis the Director of Corporate Media Relations at J&il.at24. In 2013,
Goodrichallegedly drafted the textf J&J’s “Our Safety & Care Commitment” websitwhich
addressed the safety of the Talc Produats] made public statements on behalf of fi&h
2016 through 2018Id.

Joan Casalvieri, Ph.vas theDirector of Toxicology and Skincawmt JJCI Id. at]25.
Sheallegedly spearheaded the Compamffertsto defend talc from both scientific and
regulatory scrutiny in 2005ld.

Michael Sned has worked at the Company since 1983, and has been J&J’'s Executive VP
of Global Corporate Affairs & Chief Communication Officer since 20IR2.at 126.He is also a
member of J&J's Executive Committekl.

Tara Glasgowvas VP of Research and Development (“R&D”) for liady product unit
of J&J’'s consumer divisionld. at 7. Glasgowallegedlymade public statements on behalf of
J&J from 2015 through 2017d.

B. The Talc Productsand the Alleged Fraudulent Scheme

Defendants allegedly concealed the truth about the asbestos in its Talc Produgts ¢hr
highly organized campaign of deceit and regulatory manipulattatording to Plaintiff, Baby
Powder “stands out as a symbol of J&J’s history and legacy” and has been described by the

Company’s executives as “an institution,” “flagship product,” and “sacred cow.” AC 1143,47
Plaintiff contend that the Talc Products “are contaminated with caneesing asbestosid. at

11. Cosmetictalc is a naturally occurring mineral that is mirfemm rock and then ground into
powderform. Id. at f49. Talc can be naturally contaminated wdlifferenttypes ofasbestossuch

aschrysotile, tremolite, actinolite, anthophyllite, amosite, and crocidolite mindnaisdevelop
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as bundles of long, thin fibers that are flexible and easily separable, rather tbhd axck. Id.

at750 Tremolite, actinolie, and anthophyllite minerals can also develop naturally as larger rocks,
i.e,, “non-asbestiform.”ld. atf50 n.6. The parties disputes health risks, if any, posed by those
minerals in their nomsebstos form, however, they agree t#stestos fibergan cause fatal
cancers.ld. at 150, 50 n.6 seeECF No.44-1, Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss First Amended Class Action Complailigf. Br.”), at 5.

According to Plaintiff, in the 1970’s, conceraBout thesafety of talebased products and
the potentiafor asbestos contaminah began tesurface and as a result, J&J allegedtjtiateda
concerted effort to convince the public that talc was dafeat 151.Similarly, afterpublic health
researcheri the 1980’sstarted taconsider a potential association betwtgopowder $sage and
ovarian cancetthe Company’s alleged scheme turneduellingthose concernsld. at 74.To
that end, the Company allegedly “lied to the public, influenced regulators, and purposely avoided
testing methods that could detect the trace amounts of asbestos that the Compangrenew w
present id. at 51, and sought to preclude health organizations such as the National Toxicology
Program (“NTP”) and the World Health Organization (“WHQO”) from listing tala@asrcinogen,

id. at 118284, 100-102.

Plaintiff alleges that the Company was aware, as earlp@8, that J&J’s talc contained
“unavoidable trace amounts of tremalitend Plaintiff cites to internal documents wherein
pediatriciansandthe Company own employees had expressed concern about potential adverse
effectsof talcum powder on the lungs of babies or mothéds.at {52. Throughout the 1970’s,
the Company allegedly received testing results from outside laboratories, andnipltbwse
results,internally acknowledgetheexistence of asbestos in its T®RImducts, buendeavored to

keep the issue hidden from regulators and the puhllicat 1155, 57, 59For example, Plaintiff



alleges that in 1971, an internal Company memorandum, drafted by Dr. T. M. Thompson, the son
of the Company’s céounder, noted that that “[t]he talc used in JOHNSON'S Baby Powder came
from a Vermont mine containingrace amounts of fibrous minerals (tremolite/actinolitéjhile

the talc went through a ‘washing process,’ ‘three independent consulting laboratories haiwe

the resulting talc still had ‘traces of fibrous minerals.1d. at {155. Further, thememo
acknowledged that “if it became known that [the Company’s] formulations contained any
significant amounbdbf Tremolite” the[Clompany could face a “furor” and “become involved in
litigation.” Id. at 53. In 1972, two other outside laboratories allegedly tested talcum powder
samples and found the presence of tremolite asbestos fideet.156-57.

J&J allegedlyavoided testingnethodswhich mightreveal the presence of asbestos in its
talc. Id. at163-67, 230. Plaintiff alleges that in 1973, J&J hired a consultant who concltraed
detectingtrace amounts of asbestos was like looking foneedle in a haystack” and requires
testing large amounts of taltd. at 163.Accordingly, the consultaritonsidered [it] essential” to
concentrate the asbestos before the talc was examahet§63. Knowing that the concentration
method might leado the detection of asbestos, the Company allegagiigedinternally that it
“want[ed] to avoid promotion of this [testing] approach,” and that it “really want[edk¢tude
concentration techniques in any proposed analytical proceddreat 65. Plantiff also alleges
that in addition to the historical issues regarding J&J's testing methods, merdlyea 2016
internal audit report found that the Company’s methods for testing its talc gquezstionable at
best.”Id. at 1110. Furthermore, RJ Ldbge outside lab utilized by J&J indicated that the test
method required by J&J was “not an optimal method for asbestos tedtnglh addition to

avoiding testing methods which might find asbestos in its Talc Products, in ¥ 4ljlegedly



authorizedaclandestine “asbestatestruction experimentfhirough which the Company hoped to
identify methods to destroy the tremolite and chrysotile in its tdlcat §60.

Unable to remove the asbestos fibers from its ti¢) also allegedly made efforts to
control the scientific community’s research regarding the safety of talguapdrtedly sponsored
“talc safety studies” to “neutralize or hold in check data already generated bygatastiwho
guestion the safety of talcld. atf68 Simultaneously, J&Set out to obtain “maximal leverage
for defending the product” by contradicting “negative dathat{7Q see alsad. at {1 68-73. To
that end, J&J allegedly led efforts to preclude the National Toxicology FPno¢fidTP) from
considering whether talc was a potential carcinogen and including talc in its bienpiat Be
Carcinogens (“RoC”). Id. at Y87, 8284. The RoC is published every two years and lists
substances “either known or reasonably anticipated to be human carcinddeas{37.In 2000,
the NTP was considering whether to include talc in its next RoC, and J&J and itspialiers
allegedly worked hand in hand to undermine those effddsat 118285. Theysucceeded in
convincing the NTP to defer its decision on talc, by pointing out an “alleged fatal flane ther
existing researclinking ovarian cancer and talmost of the studies involved the use of talc
products produced before 1976, the year after which talc was supposedly regbeédsbestos
free.” 1d. at182-83.

Later, wherthe NTP, again, decided to review whether talc was a potential carcinogen, the
Company allegedly assigné€hsalvieri the task of directing the project to “defend talcl” at
194. J&J worked withits talc supplier and outside expeft® develop documents” that
undermined any link between talc and ovarian cancer, for potenbatission téthe NTP and for
publication. 1d. at {195,97. For example, J&&nd its talc supplier allegedbecretly funded a

study that sided with the Company on the safety of talcat19799. In order to conceal their



involvement, J&J purportedly retained a law firm which hired the researchers andrtwhich
payments to the researchers were funneleéd

In October 2005, the NTP withdrew talc from consideration as a carcindédeat 137,
103. An internal company email sent to 30 individuaisjudingCasalvieri, celebrated the NTP’s
decision, proclaiming;We did it!"” and acknowledging that the decision was “a direct result” of
J&J’s efforts, along with those of its talc suppliéd. at{104.

Plaintiff allegeghatJ&J went to extreme lengths to defendotsductsincluding updating
the Company’s website address the safety of the Talc Products, and seekeunteahegative
data from the FDAId. atff227, 288 299. Plaintiff alleges thatvhile the Company was engaged
in its offensive tactics t@woncealnegative dataegardingits talc from the public, J&J was
repeatedly informedand internally discussetthe asbestos contamination in its Talc Produets
example, a March 1992 internal memodum at J&J’s talc supplier allegedly illustrates that it was
“common knowledge” that asbestiform minerals such as tremolit@ctimblite werepresent in
the Vermont talc mines utilized by the Compang. at{76. In 2004, a news channallegedly
teded J&J Baby Powder and found that it “tested at above noewelkfor asbestos Id. at88.
Upon receiving the information, the Company allegedly “franticedled its talc supplier,” and
discovered that during the prior three years, shpplierhad not been performing quarterly
asbestos testing on the talc it was supplying to J&lJat90. In a series of 2008 emails, the
Company’s Global Creative Director repeatedly expressed concern that talotvgasenfor use
around babies, and was ultimately, reprimandddat {1.07-108.

C. Alleged Misrepresentationsand Omissions during the Class Period

In 2013 J&J began facing lawsuits alleging a connection between ovarian cancer and talc,
and that asbestos in italc powdercaused cancerf1120, 179186, 192201, 204, 21222.
Plaintiff allegesthat, shortly thereafter, the Company began issuing numezisesaind misleading
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statements a continuation of itedlecade’songscheme which form the basis of Plaintiff's instant
claims. Plaintiff further allegsthatthevariousmisstatements made during tBassPeriod were
aimed at preserving the public trust and precluding the discovery of the Company’s longstanding
misinformation campaign.

For example, in October 201fllowing a jury verdict against the Company in a case
where theplaintiff alleged that there was a link between asbestos andhal€ompanys “Safety
& Care Commitmentivebpagewas updated to statbat “[flew ingredients have demonstrated
the same performance, mildness and safety profile as cosmetic talc, whipgdehassed for over
100 years” and has “a long history of safe usel”at1126127. The webpage statduhtthe
Company’s talc is carefully selected, processed and tested to ensure that [it] is asleeStasdr
that this has been “confirmed by regular testing conducted since the 187.G&.Y127. Plaintiff
alleges that these statements were false, as indicatedrhyt version of the website contained in
the Company’s internal documentkl. at 1128129, 142. Plaintiff allegesthatthe draft of the
webpage, modified by Goodrich and held in her files, contained the following edit:Haslaver
100 years o$afeuse in personal care productil’ at 1128. AdditionallyRlaintiff further alleges
thatcommentary in the draft document, purportedly added by Goodrich, acknowl€etigied, t
think we can link cosmetic talc to 100 years of use,” and that J&J “canndhsaydlc Products
havd ‘always’ been asbestos fréeld. at 1128

In February 2016, a Missouri state jury returned a verdict against J&Jltoefa warn,
negligence, and conspirgcgnd awarded $72 million in damages to a kinge user of J&J's
talcum powdersvho suffered fromovarian cancerld. at 1147. This verdict was reportedly the
first to award damages to a plaintiff linking ovarian canoe&J’s talc products, and it included

an award of $62 million in punitive damaged.



On February 25, 2016, following the $72 million verdict, the FDA requested, in writing,
that J&J “provide all safety literature and data regarding talc, including data in sofpjbersafety
of this active ingredient and data that shows potential hareffects.” Id. at §150. In the
company’s letteresponse, J&J allegedly represented that “[nJo asbéstos structures have
been found during any testing” of its body powdeéds.at{151. The Company did not reveal that
over the years at least thrimelependent laboratories had found asbestos in the Company’s talc.
The statements to the FDA were not the Company’s only commentary on the safietyl oifita
that time period.Following articles about that jury verdict, Plaintiff alleges ttteg Compny’s
website was updated to include various “materially false and misleastatgmentscluding the
following:

e “JOHNSON's talc products do not contain asbestos.”

e Itis a“misperception . .. that JOHNSON’s Baby Powder contains talc made with
asbestos.

e “Since the 1970s, talc used in consumer products has been required to be-asbestos
free.”

e “The grade of talc used in cosmetics is of high purity . . . and is free from asbestos
and asbestiform fibers.”

e “Cosmetic grade talc is only mined from select dépdsom certified locations ..”

e “Cosmetic grade talc is . . . milled to relatively large,nespirable particles size.”

e “Our sources for talc undergo comprehensive qualification.”

e “The incoming talc is routinely evaluated . . . .”

e “The incoming talc is . . evaluated using a sophisticated battery of tests designed
to ensure quality, safety, and compliance with all global standards.”

e “The safety of talc is based on a long history of safe use and decades of research by
independent researchers and scientdview boards.”

Id. at{148. Defendant Glasge allegedlymade similarepresentations a June 2016 Houston
Chronical editorial. Id. at §163. There, she claimed that 30 years of scientific studies and
regulatory reviews have shown tabsmetic talc is safe” and that “I can tell you #eeence is

clear—cosmetic talc is, and has been, safe for use and that is the most important guidiplg princi
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for every product Johnson & Johnson Consumer Inc. offers to consumers and patcerds.
111.63-164.

Despite the Company’s efforts, throughout 2017 and 218, alleged thathe truth
regardingasbestos in the Talc Products was slowly disclosed, and the Company’s stock price
began to declineld. at{184-237.0n SeptembeR1, 2017, a law firnissueda presselease (the
“Bernstein LebhardPresRelease”), entitled “Talcum Powder Lawsuit Plaintiffs Claim Unsealed
Documents Show Johnson & Johnson Knew of -Palbestos Danger in 1970s, Bernstein
Liebhard LLP Reports.Id. at{184. The press release indicdteat plaintiffs in the ovarian cancer
lawsuitswere looking to add asbestos allegations to their ovarian cancer claimis. response
to the news, J&J's stock price declined from a close of $130.94 on September 26, 2017 to a close
of $129.75 on September 27, 20&aRd an event study allegedly “determined that [the decline]
was statistically significaitand “cannot be attributed to market and sector factors, or to random
volatility, but rather was caused by new company-specific informatimh.at{185, 185 n.21.

On January 30, 2018, testimony began in a New Jersey state court cakar{to€ase”)
where the plaintiff, Stephen Lanzo, alleged that he develmgsdtheliomas a resulof exposure
to J&J Baby Powdecontaining asbestos. That same day, after the markets clase860
published an article regarding tRé&intiff's allegations and summarizing some of the testimony
including the allegation that J&J had been aware that its talc contshbedtos since the 1970s
Id. at1192. In response tthatdisclosure, J&J's stock dropped 3% from a close of $142.43 on
January 30, 2018 to a close of $138.19 on January 31, 2018193. An event study allegedly

determined that the decline was stiatally significant. Id.
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On Februarp, 2018 Mesothelioma.ngiublished amrticle anticipating use of “damaging
internal company documents” during thanzotrial. 1d. at 1194. The article explained that the
anticipateddocuments would

show that as long ago as the early 1970s, company officials

were questioning each other about the impact of asbestos,

and specifically about how much asbestos an infant might

inhale if the compay’s baby powder contained a 1%

concentration of the carcinogen. This type of documentation

is likely to weigh heavily against the consumer products

giant as they assert in court that their product has always

been completely asbestos free.
Id. Plaintiff alleges that following the publication tfatarticle, the Company’s stock declined
over 5%, from a close of $137.68 on February 2, 2fil& close of $130.39 on February 5, 2018,
the following trading day, which an event study determined to be stalligtsignificant. Id. at
1195. Contemporaneous publications from financial news outlets and analysts alsoeattititeut
stock drop to tharticle’spronouncementsid. at §196-199.

On Februaryr, 2018, theBeasley Allen Lawrirm, colead counsel on behalf of thousands
of women in ovarian cancer related product liability lawsuits, issued a pteaseemphasizing
the significance of recently disclosd&J internal documents, which had been produced to it in
discovery.ld. 201. Among other thingghe press release alleged that the documents “shed light
on just how prevalent asbestos and heavy metals are in the talc used in Baby Powder. The
documents also show the corporations’ response to growing concerns about ckeceldis
Following the press release, J&J's stock declined nearly 4%, from a close of $131.42uamyFebr
7, 2018 to a close of $126.36 on February 8, 2018, which was determined to be statistically
significant. Id. at202.

Shortly thereafter, in April 2018, the jury in thanzocase found J&J and its talc supplier

liable for the plaintiff’'s mesotheliomald. at{204. Following the verdigtGoodrich was quoted
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in a New York Daily News article as stating that “Johnson’s Baby Powder has bddarusere
than 120 years and it does not contain asbestos or cause mesothamari@w]e believe that
once the full evidence is reviewed, this decision will be reverdddat §205.0ther pokespeople
for the Company made similar statements to investmiaglvarious conferences throughout May
2018. For example, during the Consumer and Medical Devices Business Review, Global Chief
TechnologyOfficer Josh Ghaim claimed thabur ingredients have . . . always been safe” and
Jorge Mesquita, Executive VP of the J&J subsidiary which produces the Baby Powder product,
promised that “we’ve been through this extensively, and we are 100% sure that our talc product i
safe.” Id at §208. During another conference on May 21, 2018, Mesquita similarly promised on
May 21, 2018that “[w]e are absolutely certain that science shows that our talcum prodafs.is
Id. During that same conferendeeterson represented that the Company’s global supply chain
had been largely fixed, and that she had ensured “we’ve got the right quality and compliance in all
of our manufacturing sites around the world, both internal and exteddalat 1210.

OnJuly 12, 2018a jury in a Missouri product liability lawsuit (tHeghamcase) the first
trial whereplaintiffs alleged that their ovarian cancer was caused by asbestos in the Talc Products,
rather than talitself, issuedh $4.69 billion verdicin favor of the plaintiffs.ld. at§213. Following
the jury verdict, the Company’s stock price declined 1% which an event study deteronbeed t
statistically significant.ld. at §214. Market commenters and financial analysists also contributed
the decline to the jury verdictd. at 1215-218.

Much like after theLanzoverdict, the Company went on the defensive, and made public
statements decrying the verdiotthe Inghamcase Id. at 1121222. In a July 2018 corporate
statement, J&J promised that “the evidence in the case was simply overdlbglthe prejudice”

J&J had suffered during the proceeding, and J&J “remains confident that its products do not
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contain asbestos and do not cause ovarian cantgerdt 1219. In fact, the Company allegedly
commentedhat the “the multiple errors in this trial were worse than those in thetpaigrwhich
have been reversed.ld. Similarly, Bloomberg reported on July 12, 2018t Goodrich had

stated in an email that the verdict “was the product of a fundamentally unfagsgrdand that

the evidence in the case was simpleovhelmed by the prejudice™ of the proceediidy. at

1220. Goodrich also blamed “‘multiple errors™ in the proceeding for the verdict and agai
promised that J&J's products were asbestos-free and did not cause ovarianidanbering an
earnings chon July 17, 2018, Gorsky specificaligferencedhe Inghamcase and avowed that

“we remain confident that our products do not contain asbestos and do not cause ovanign cance
and that “preeminent scientific and regulatory bodies . . . have fully reviewed thmdyllof
scientific evidence on multiple occasions and found that it does not support theaaldus talc
causes ovarian cancerd. at R22.

On December 14, 2018, Reuters published a highly detailed investigative (tégort
“Reuters report”)entitled, “Powder Keg: Johnson & Johnson knew for decades thestasb
lurked in its Baby Powdér Id. at 1223. The articlepurportedlyprovided new information
regardingthe Company’s knowledge of asbestos contamination in the Talc Products, the
Company’s alleged offensive campaign to convince regulatorsalbatas not a carcinogethe
Company’s unsuccessful efforts to remove asbdgiasits talc, and its failure to use “essential”
testing methodsld. at 11223243. Furthermore, the article allegedly includeelverbeforeseen
internal J&J documenthat detailedhe Company’s knowledgef asbestos in the Talc Products
and documeted J&J’s longstanding frauduleobverup scheme.ld. at223.

Following the publication of the Reuters article, J&J’s stock price plummeted 10%afrom

closing price of $147.78 the prior day to a closing price of $1@3at 233. An event study
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allegedlydetermined that the decline “was statistically significait” Fnancial analystand
market commenters fromntities such asdfbes, Wells Fargand Credit Suissealsoattributed
the cecline tothe new informatiomevealed in the Reers article.ld. at{234-237.

Following the Reutersreport’s revelations, several government entities announced
investigations into its allegations. A U.S. senator from the Environment and Public Works
Committeaequested that the FDA “immediately investigate” to determine whether J&iisria
have placed at risk the public’'s health and safely.”at 1245. Another senator, from the
Committee on Health, Education, Labor and Pensions, requdsmdnents related to the
“alleged decade$ong effort by J&J to potentially mislead regulators and consumers about the
safety”” of Baby Powder.Id. at 1248. The Department of Justice (“DOJand Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC%ent J&J “preliminary inquiries and subpoenasfarding the
instant securities class action lawsuit, a shareholder derivative suit,mptoyee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 class action lawsuits, and the product liability muittigigation.

11250252.

D. This Putative Class Action

On February 8, 2019 plaintiff Frank Hall filed a putative class action complaint, ol beha
of all investors that purchased J&J securities between February 22, 2013 and February 7, 2018,
alleging volations ofSection 10(bof the Securities Act of 1934 and Rule 10(b)(5) (Count 1) by
all Defendantsand violations of Section 20(a) of the 1934 Act by defendants J&J, Ganstity,
CarusdCount 2).SeeECF. No. 1 On February 28, 2019, the Court appointed San Diego County
Employees Retirement Association as Lead Plain8#eECF No. 20. An Amended Complaint

was filed on February 28, 201%eeECF No. 33. The new pleadingsaddedSandra Peterson,
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Carol Goodrich, Joan Casalvieri, Michael Sneed, and Tara Glasgow as defendants, and also
extended the Class Period through December 2618.

Subsequently, Defendants filed the instant motion to dismiss, arguing that Pleastiff
failed to state a claim under the applicable securities laws becdysthe allegedly “new”
information about the existence of asbestos in J&J's talc is immatd@al alleged
misrepresentations and omissions are either true or -@actmmable opinion(3) Plaintiff has
failed to allege atrong inference of scienter; 4) Plaintiff has not sufficiently allegeccssation
and ) Plaintiff's clains based orevents occurring after February 7, 2018 (the end of the class
period proposed in the initial Complaint) are not viable. Plaintiff opposes the motion.

II. LEGAL STANDARD

Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a complaint may be dismissed for “failure ¢oastdaim
upon which relief can be grantedfed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)When reviewing a motion to dismiss
on the pleadings, courts “accefitfactual allegations as true, construe the complaint in the light
most favorable to the plaintiff, and determine whether, under any reasonable reading of the
complaint, the plaintiff may be entitled to reliefPhillips v. Cnty. of Alleghenys15 F.3d 24,

233 (3d Cir. 2008) (quotations omittedynder such a standard, the factual allegations set forth in
a complaint “must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculativé BeleAtlantic
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)ndeed “the tenet that a court must accept as true
all of the allegations contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusisigroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).[A] complaint must do more than allege the plaintiff's
entitlement to relief A complaint has to ‘show’ such an entitlement with its fadeivler v.

UPMC Shadyside578 F.3d 203, 211 (3d Cir. 2009).
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However, Rule 12(b)(6) only requires a “short and plain statement of the clairmghow
that the pleader is entitled to relief’ander to “give the defendant fair notice of what the . . . claim
is and the grounds upon which it rest3xvombly 550 U.S. at 555The complaint must include
“enough factual matter (taken as true) to suggest the required eletestdoes not imposa
probability requirement at the pleading stage, but instead simply calls for enougio f@ite a
reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of the necessary .&leiglfips,
515 F.3d at 234 (citation and quotations omitt€yingon v. Int'l Ass’n of Approved Basketball
Officials, 710 F.3d 114, 118 (3d Cir. 2013) (“[A] claimant does not have to set out in detail the
facts upon which he bases his claim. The pleading standard is not akin to a probability requireme
to survive a mbion to dismiss, a complaint merely has to state a plausible claim for relief.” (citation
and quotations omitted)).

In sum, under the current pleading regime, when a court considers a dismissal motion, three
sequential steps must be taken: first, “it must take note of the elements thef phaistiplead to
state a claim.” Connelly v. Lane Constr. Corp809 F.3d 780, 787 (3d Cir. 2016) (quotations
omitted). Next, the court “should identify allegations that, because they are no more than
conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of tridh.(quotations omitted)Lastly, “when
there are welpleaded factual allegations, the court should assume teeacity and then
determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relaef(uotations and brackets
omitted).

“Independent of the standard applicable to Rule 12(b)(6) motions,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b)
“imposes a heightened pleading reqoient of factual particularity with respect to allegations of
fraud.” In re Rockefeller Ctr. Props. Secs. Litig1l1l F.3d 198, 216 (3d Cir. 2008ge alsd-ed.

R. Civ. P. 9(b) (“In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with plarigu the
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circumstances constituting fraud or mistakéalice, intent, knowledge, and other conditions of a
person's mind may be alleged generallyT9. satisfy this heightened pleading standard, a plaintiff
must state the circumstancesitsfalleged cause of actiomith “sufficient particularity to place
the defendant on notice of the 'precise misconduct with which [it is] charge@derico v. Home
Depot 507 F.3d 188, 200 (3d Cir. 2007) (quotingm v. Bank of Ameri¢&861 F.3d 217, 2234
(3d Cir. 2004)). Speifically, the plaintiff must plead or allege the “date, time and place of the
alleged fraud or otherwise inject precision or some measure of substantiation fiatad a
allegation.” Fredericq 507 F.3d at 200 (citingum, 361 F.3d at 224)Indeed, the fird Circuit
has advised that, at a minimum, Rule 9(b) requires a plaintiff to allege thetfaks$actual
background that would accompany ‘the first paragraph of any newspaperstuayis, the ‘who,
what, when, where and how’ of the events at issuie.fe Suprema Specialties, Inc. Sec. Ljtig.
438 F.3d 256, 276-77 (3d Cir. 2006) (quotinge Rockefeller311 F.3d at 216).

In addition to Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading requirements, Congress enacted the PSLRA,
15 U.S.C § 78uwet seq.to require an even higher pleading standard for plaintiffs bringing private
securities fraud actionsin re Suprema, 438 F.3d at 27@his heightened pleading standard is
targeted at preventing abusive securities litigati®ee Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rgjht
Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 313 (2007) (“Private securities fraud actions . . . if not adequately contained,
can be employed abusively to impose substantial costs on companies and individuals whose
conduct conforms to the law.Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &mith Inc. v. Dabjt547 U.S. 71,
81 (2006) (identifying “ways in which the claastion device was being used to injure the entire
U.S. economy” and listing examples such as “nuisance filings, targeting ofpdelegt
defendants, vexatious discovery requests, and manipulation by class action lavlyersliehts

whom they purportedly represent . . .”) (quotes and citations omitted).
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The PSLRA provides two distinct pleading requirements, both of which must be met in
order for a complaint to survive a motion to dismiksstitutional Investors Group v. Avaya, Inc.
564 F.3d 242, 252 (3d Cir. 2009¥irst, under 15 U.S.C. § 78Yb)(1), the complaint must
“specify each allegedly misleading statement, why the statement was misleadihgf an
allegationis made on information and belief, all facts supporting that belief with partigularit
Winer Family Trust v. Queem03 F.3d 319, 326 (3d Cir. 2007) (construing 15 U.S.C. § 78u
4(b)(1)). Second, the complaint must, “with respect to each act or omiakéged to violate this
chapter, state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference thadgfémedant acted with
the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 7A)(2).

Both provisions of the PSLRA require facts to be pled with “particylaridvaya 564
F.3d at 253.This particularity language “echoes precisely Fed. R. Civ. P. 9¢by& Advanta
Corp. Sec. Litig.180 F.3d 525, 534 (3d Cir. 1998geFed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) (“[A] party must state
with particularity the circumstances cahging fraud or mistake.”)Indeed, although the PSLRA
complementRule 9(b) as the pleading standard governing private securities class ab#ons, t
rule's particularity requirement “is comparable to and effectively subsumed bgqiieements
of [§ 78u4(b)(1) of] the PSLRA.”Avaya 564 F.3d at 253 (citations omitted).

Ill. ANALY SIS
A. Judicial Notice

Defendarg requesthat this Court take judicial notice séventeerlocuments pursuant to

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 20%eeECF No. 44Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice in

Support of Their Motion to Dismiss (“Def. Judicial Notice BrBEx. 1-17. Plaintiff objects to
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judicial notice ofelevenof the proffered exhibitd. SeeECF No. 454, Lead Plaintiff's Brief in

Opposition to Deferahts’ Request for Judicial NoticeRl: Judicial Notice BF).

On a motion to dismiss, courts may consider “document[s] integral to or expledidy
upon in the complaint” or any “undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as an
exhibit to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiffslaims are based on the documerihre Asbestos
Product Liability Litig. (No. VI) 822 F.3d 125, 134 n.7 (3d Cir. 201&)ourts may also consider
facts and documents which are subject to judicial notice Uretieral Rule of Evidence 20A
fact is appropriate for judicial notice if it “is not subject to reasonabjeutBsbecause it: (1) is
generally known within the trial court's territorial jurisdiction; or (2) candmeieately and readily

determined fronsources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.” Fed. R. Evid. 201(b).

Plaintiff does not oppose limited judicial noticEExhibit 1, an SEC form 1K filed by
J&J, for the fact that the form was filed with the SEC and that the statemeloidesh in the filing
were made. Pl. Judicial Notice Br. at 5.However, Plaintiff objects to judicial notice of the
documento the extent J&J seeks to admit the exhibit “for the truth of contested matterasseisc
—such as J&J's defensive position thia¢re is an ‘absence of any credible scientific evidence
suggesting that the Talc Products contain dangerous levels of tremolite asbastostber type
of asbestos.”Id. Similarly, Plaintiff does not object to judicial notice of the existence of the
contents of Exhibits 2, 5, and 9, each of which is a document issued by a government entity or
public agency, but objects to the Court assuming the truth of the massested in those

documents.ld. Because these documents are publicly availabieentic records, or documents

® Plaintiff does not oppose Defendants’ request for judicial notice of ExhiBits1613,15, each
of which was either expressly relied upon in the Amended Complainhsrss of historical stock

price data.SeePl. Judicial Notice Br. at-3. Accordingly, the Court takes judicial noticetlobse

exhibits.
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issued by government and public agencies, the Court will take judicial notice of Exhibits, 1, 2, 5,
and 9, however, to the extent Defendaitempt to rely on thosdocuments to create a defense

to the Complaint'©therwie wellpledallegations, and suggest that this Court should assume the
factual assertions in those documents to be true, the Couwsttfindppropriate to do so, at this

juncture.

Finally, Plaintiff objects to judicial notice of the remaining exhibig 3., March 5, 2019
Statement from U.S. Food and Drug Administration Commissioner Scott GottliebahdSusan
Mayne, Ph.D., director of the Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition; Ex. 4, The U.S. Food
and Drug Administration webpage regarding &22010 talc study; Ex. 10, a 2016 scientific
study from the Journal of the National Cancer Institute, entitled “Douching, TalcrdsBRjsk of
Ovarian Cancer”; Ex. 12, “Prospective Study of Talc Use and Ovarian Cancef’4 Bxebruary
13, 1975 letter from G. Lee regarding “CTFA Talc Subcommittee Meeting with Food agd Dr
Administration, Washington, D.C., February 7, 1975,”; Ex1¥6 CNN articles by Matt Egan
from February 5 and February 8, 2019.

Exhibits 3 and 4 are both excerptoom the Food and Drug Administration’s (FDA)
website. Although statements from government entities are typically appropriate for Judicia
notice, Exhibit 3 was issued on March 5, 2019, three months after the close of the Class Period.
Thus, it arguably hasiinimal relevanceo the claims at issudere. Exhibit 4, although it does
not contain a publication date, notes the release of a March 12, 2019 safety alert regarditig cos
talc, andthus, also appears to pakite the Class Periodiccordingly, the Court declines to take
judicial notice of either documengedn re PTCTherapeutics, Inc. Sec. Litji017 WL 3705801,

at *3 n.5 (D.N.J. Aug. 28, 2017) (declining to take judicial notice of-plasts period public
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documents because “their relevance to the issues-teege, what was known to PTC at the time
it made the alleged misstatemenis quite low”).

Exhibit 10 is a scientific study sponsored U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH) and
published in the National Cancer Institute jouriaéfendantgontend that the study is appropriate
for judicial notice becauséwas sponsored by the NIH and courts may take notice of information
reported by government administrative agencid3ef. Judicial Notice Br. at 5. Although
Defendants are correct that courts may generally take judicial notecdamfument issued by a
governmental agency, ti@ourt declines to take judicial notice of Exhibit 18chmidt v. Skolas
770 F.3d 241, 249 (3d Cir. 2014inding it appropriate to take judicial notice of documents that
are the records of government agencid3gfendant primani seeks tantroduce Exhibit 10 to
contest the allegation that there is a link between talc and ovarian c8eebef. Br. at 27 (citing
Exhibit 10 for the proposition that “a large prospective study” “did not observe an association
between recent talc use and ovarian canc&etause Exhibit 18ddressethe merits of Plaintiff's
claims, isnot relied upon or integral to the Complaint, and would require the court to delve into
the scientific evidencthatforms the crux of the parties’ dispute, the Court declines to take judicial
notice of the study.

Defendarg contendhat Exhibits 12 and 14 are documents linétgdctly from the Reuters
article, which is Exhibit 3 to the Amended Complaint. Def. Judicial Notice Br6atSGmilarly,
Exhibit 12is a study referenced in the draft of the J&J Safety Care and CommitmentaVabgi
guoted in Paragraph 131 and Exhibit 2 of the Amended CompldinAlthough these documents
are referenceth exhibits to the Complaint, they are not, themselves, “integral to” or “expressly
relied upon” in the Complaintln re Asbestos Product Liability Litig822 F.3d at 134 n.7The

mere fact that the documents are referenced or quoted in an Exhibit to the Amenusdia
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does not render the exhibits themselves appropriate for consideration on a motion & @emis
In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litigl14 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir. 199F)T]he critical
[issue] is whether the claims in the complaint are ‘based’ on an extliositnentind not merely
whether the extrinsidocumentvas explicitly cited.”). Furthermore,the inferences that
Defendantsvish to draw from these documents are inappropriate at this jundtike.Exhibit
10, Defendarst largely pointto these documents to establish substantive meaged defenses
regarding the science underlying tBemplaint’s allegationsAccordingly, the Court declines to
take judicial notice of Exhibits 12 and 14.

Exhibit 1617 are both CNN news articles, which are not referencédte Complaint, but
provide analysis of the Dow Jones’ historical average price @seause the documents convey
historical stock data, the Courtlitake judicialnotice of Exhibits 16 and 15edn re Intelligroup
Sec. Litig, 527 F. Supp. 2d 262, 2572 (D.N.J. 2007jtaking judicial notice ofstock price data
compiled by a reliable financial news service Mowever, to the exteltefendant seeks to create
factual disputes regarding the cause for the decline in J&J stock, the @bgramt Plaintiff the
benefit of all reasonable inferences from the facts as alleged, as required &tag@sop the
litigation.

B. The Section 10() and Rule 10b-5Claims

The private right of action under Section 10(b) and Rule-80breates liability for false
or misleading statements or omissions of material fact that affect trading on theéessgaeoarket.”
In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec.tlg., 114 F.3cat 141. In relevant part, Rule 1656 makes it
unlawful for an individual “[tjo make any untrue statement of a material fatct @omit to state a
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light ofuhestaince

under which they were made, not misleading in connection with the purchase or sale of any
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security.” 17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.106¥p(b). To state a claim under Section 108mdRule 10b-5, the
plaintiff must allege: “(1) a material misrepresentation or omission, (2) sci€Bter,connection
with the purchase or sale of a security, (4) reliance, (5) economic loss, and (@usator.”
Gold v. Ford Motor Cq 577 F. Appx 120, 122 (3d Cir. 2014) (citinBura Pharms., Inc. v.
Broudq 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005)).

Under Section 10(b) and Rule 1) a misrepresentation or omission of fact is material
“if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder wouddieoit important” in
making an investment decision, and there is a “substantial likelihood that the discbthee
omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significerety thk:
‘total mix’ of information made avable.” Basic Inc. v. Levinsqr85 U.S. 224, 2382 (1988)
(quotingTSC Indus. v. Northway26 U.S. 438, 440, 449 (19763ge also Oran v. Stafford26
F.3d 275, 282 (3d Cir. 2000)mportantly, to be actionable, a statement or omission must have
beenmaterially misleading at the time it was made; liability cannot be imposed on the basis of
subsequent event$n re NAHC, Inc. Sec. Litig306 F.3d 1314, 1330 (3d Cir. 2002).

Additionally, because materiality is a mixed question of law and“fagtly if the alleged
misrepresentations or omissions are so obviously unimportant to an investor thradbéaminds
cannot differ on the question of materiality is it appropriate for the district tmuule that the
allegations are inactionable as a matter of la®liapiro v. UJB Financial Corp964 F.2d 272,
280 n. 11 (3d Cir. 1992) (citation omitted)The Third Circuit has warned that the task of
determining materiality can be especially difficult when the statement at issuéensdisiatt”
information, i.e., statements of subjective analysis or extrapolation, such as opiniores,raatl
intentions, or forward looking statements, such as projections, estimates, andSotaedishatic

Sec. Litig. v. Kraftsop890 F.2d 628, 642 (3d Cir. 198
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However, regardless of whether a piece of information is material, Section a6(Ruke
10b-5 “do not create an affirmative duty to disclose any and all material informathatiixx
Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusan®63 U.S. 27, 44 (2011)ndeed;[s]ilence, absent a duty to disclose,
is not misleading under Rule &®” City of Edinburgh Council v. Pfizer, In@54 F.3d 159, 174
(3d Cir. 2014) (quotinddasic 485 U.S. at 239 n. 17)Rather, “[d]isclosure is required ... only
when necessary ‘tmake ... statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading.’Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 44 (quoting 17 C.F.R. § 240-4%]b)); see
also City of Edinburgh754 F.3d at 178urlington 114 F.3d at 1432 (“[®ksession of material
nonpublic information alone does not create a duty to disclose it.”).

Additionally, according to the Supreme Cosrtecision inOmnicare, Inc. v. Laborers
Dist. Council Constr. Indus. Pension Fymwhen the alleged misleading statement at issue is an

opinion or a belief, whether that statement is ‘misleading’ “depends on the perspective
reasonable investor: The inquiry (like the one into materiality) is objecti%é3 U.S.175, 185
(2015). AlthougfOmnicareexamined claims uradt Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933, these
principles are “not unique to 8 111d. at191. Rather, “[tlhey inhere, too, in much common law
respecting the tort of misrepresentatidd,; and are therefore arguably applicable to claims under
Secton 10(b) as well.Seeln re Merck & Co, No. 051151, 2015 WL 2250472, a1 (D.N.J.
May 13, 2015) (findingOmnicarés analysis of misleading opinions, instructive, to some extent,
on the viability of claims regarding misleadiopinions under Section 10)b)
As the Supreme Court observed:

The Restatement of Torts, for example, recognizes that ‘[a]

statement of opinion as to facts not disclosed and not otherwise

known to the recipient may’ in some circumstances reasonably ‘be

interpreted by him as an implied statement’ that the speaker ‘knows

facts sufficient to justify him in forming’ the opinion, or that he at
least knows no facts ‘incompatible with [the] opinion.” When that is
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so, the Restatement explains, liability may result from omission of

facts—for example, the fact that the speaker failed to conduct any

investigatior—that rebut the recipient's predictable inference.
Omnicare 575 U.S.at 191 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 539 at 85, Comment a at 86,
Comment b at 87 (1976) (citations drad)). These principles are consistent with the Third
Circuit's admonition that when evaluating Section 10(b) claims, courts must exalagesliyl
misleading statements in context, to determine whether they were indeedlimgsl&ee City of
Edinburgh, 754 F.3d at 167.Furthermore, the Third Circuit has deemed determinative that
“[o]pinions are only adbnable under securities lawm¢luding Section 10(b),] if they are not
honestly believed and lack a reasonable basis.at 170.

In addition to opinions ahbeliefs, adefendant may not be held liable for an alleged
misrepresentation that consists of nothing more than vague and nonspecific expressions of
corporate optimismAdvanta 180 F.3d at 538Such statements “constitute no more than ‘puffery’
and are understood by reasonable investors as siath.(quotingBurlington 114 F.3d at 1428
n. 14). Thus, if a false or misleading statement is “too vague to ascertain anything on which a
reasonable investor might rely,” it is inactionable as corporate putierg. Aetna, Inc. Sec. Litig.

617 F.3d 272, 284 (3d Cir. 2010)

i. The Alleged Material Misstatements and Omissions

As an initial matter, the Court makes clear thathis pleading phass the litigation, the
Court has not, and will not, assess the substantive merits, or truthfulness, afetjex
misstatements and omissions identified by Plain@ffitically, in this case, many of the identified
misstatements involve interpretations of complex scientific evidevitieh are the appramate
fodder forexpert testimony.The Court assumes, as it must on a motion to dismiss, the truth of

Plaintiff's well-pledallegationsto the extent Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged facts suggesting that
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the identified statements were false or mislegdthe Court grants Plaintiff all reasonable
inferences from those facts, without expressing an opinion as tontterlying substance of
Plaintiff's allegations.

The basis of Plaintiff's claims in the instant case are hundreds of allegesiy dal
misleading misstatemenissued by Defendants between February 2048d October 2018
furtherance of J&J’s purported scheme to conceal the truth about the safety of iBydichicts
from investors and the publiSeeAC 11253391. Here,Defendants argue that Plaintiff$failed
to adequately allege that Defendants' statements are materially false or mgsléathat regard
Defendants do not specificallpoint to particular misleading statemenits the Amended
Complaint; instead, they identify categories of statememtd, provide examples within those
categorieswhich they contend are insufficient to sustain a securities fraud cl@h.Br. at 10
1. Specifically, Defendants argue that leaxd the alleged misstatements falls iotee of several
broad categories 1) “[g]eneral statements regarding J&J's commitment ity,guesearch and
development, and product safgétgee e.g, AC 1Y 253, 258, 261, 263, 269, 271, 273, 275, 277,
278, 281, 284, 296, 309, 327, 356, 358, 360, 3616867 2) “[s]pecific statements that J&J's
talc and consumer talc products are ‘carefully tested,” ‘safe,” and ‘asbestdsdegeg.g, id. at
19 292, 294, 299, 3623, 311, 318, 321, 331, 335, 338, 34647, 350, 359, 370, 375, 379, 382,
and 3) “[s]tatements about J&J subsidiaries involvement in product liability lasvsui . and
[c]ertain Defendants . . . assessment of jury verdicts rendered against the ComipenyPlin
Lawsuits,”see e.g, id. at 11 272, 274, 282, 286, 297, 302, 3RK-16, 32426, 329, 333, 344,
35355, 365, 3780, 388, 390. The Amended Complaint spans over 240 pages$ contains
numerous, detailedllegationsof false or misleadingtatementsvhich were issued in, among

other things, J&J's SEC filings, websitarningscalls, press releases, and media repofise
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generallyid. at 1 253391. In that connection, Plaintiff has provided tGeurt with a chart,
totaling over 100 pagesummarizingeach misstatement or omission identified in the complaint,
the speaker, and the reason why the statement is allegedly false or misi&ebBG.F No. 45

1, Appendix 1. However the Court will notexamineeach statement individually, but rather,
consisent with the partiésbriefing, the Court willassess each category of allegedly false and
misleading statements, and identify specific statements as examples, wiessanec

1. General Statements Regarding theCompany’s Commitment to
Product Safety and Quality

Defendand contend that Plaintiff has not adequately alleged that atlyecttatements
regarding the quality and safetytbe Talc Productare inaccurateDef. Br. at 31. Furthermore,
Defendants contend that even if false, sketementsre “vague” and “generdland constitute
non-actionable puffery” Def. Br. at 31.

Plaintiff contends that both Defendanpseseniday and historical statements about)3&
commitmento safety and gglity assurancpolicies were materially misleadindpl. Br. at 27.In
that regard, Plaintiff points to Defendanssatementsin various SEC filings between 2013 and
2017, expressintpatthe Company wascommitted toinvesting in research and development with
theaim of delivering high quality and ‘improving existing products Seeg.g, AC 11256, 258,
263 273, 275, 281, 296, 327, 35@®laintiff also alleges, ér examplejn July 2013, during a
conference call with investorBeterson alleghty informed investors that as part of its “quality
initiative,” the Company was “trying to ensure that we have the highest standard of quahty f
safety and care of our patients and consumers” and the Company was identifying pvatiems
its producs early and taking any necessary corrective actioin.at 261. As another example,
during a healthcareonference on January 12, 2015, Gorsky allegedly stated that “quality and

safety” was the Company’s “numbene priority” and that they had made a number ahges to
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“make sure that [J&J] addressed any of the outstanding issues that [the Compaagjrngadd.
at 277. On several occasions, Gorsky and Glasgow, both in oral statanteatsthe Company’s
website, emphasized the Company’s commitment to ritakiare of mothers and babies” and
helping people live longer, healthier, and happier livéd. at 278, 284

In Plaintiff's view, these statements regarding the safety and quality of p&lisicts
were material misstatements or omissjdesause Defendants failed to disclusat (i) asbestos
had repeatedly been found in the Company’s Produdtsi&J purpogly avoided “essential”
testing methodsand(iii) J&J had purposely influenced and manipulated regulatorsieshtb the
FDA regarding asbestos testing and safBtyBr. at 29. Relying primarily on owif-circuit cases,
Plaintiff contends thdpuffery in one context may be material in other contexts” and beoause
the Company’s actions were such an extreme departure from its public represeaiatididgJ’s
current and past practicethe statements were materially misleading, rather than pudiery.
Id.

“[V]ague and general statements of optimism constitute no more than puffery and are
understood by reasonable investors as suchdivanta 180 F.3d at 53&internal quotes and
citations omitted)see alscAetng 617 F.3d at 288noting that puffery includes “statements of
subjective analysis or extrapolations, such as opinions, motives and intentions, or general
statements of optimism.”)[A]lthough questions of materiality have traditionally been viewed as
particularly appropate for the trier of fact, complaints alleging securities fraud oftetagon
claims of omissions or misstatements that are obviously so unimportant that couttke them
immaterial as a matter of law at the pleading stagetng 617 F.3d at 283.

In Shapiro v. UJB FinCorp, 964 F.2d 272, 282 (3d Cir. 1992), relied upon by Plajntiff

the defendant, a banking institution, characterized its lending policies as “prudenitiols,”
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and “conservative,and also emphasized its “strict” credit administration practices, its “minimal”
foreign loan exposure, and its “basic” approach to loan manageldeat276.1t also represented

that its loan loss reserves were “strong” or “very strong,” and had been and would continue to be
“maintained at a levedldequate.”ld. While making those representations, the company allegedly
concealed the truth about the company’s loan loss reserves, financial health, lendicespeaa
internal controls.ld. at 28%+82. The Third Circuit explained that “[b]y addressing the quality of

a particular management practice, a defendant declares the subject of its repredentation
material to the reasonable shareholder, and thus is bound to speak truthdulat.282. Frther,

it found that, although the terms used by the company were general, “a reasonable investor would
be influenced significantly by knowledge that a bank has knowingly or recklessly hidden its true
financial status by deliberately misstating its lesklnonperforming loans, failing to provide
adequate reserves, and indulging its problem loan customkts.Thus,the court found that
defendant’s general statements in that regard were actionable as securities fraud.

Here, &houghDefendants have broadly identified this category of statements as “[g]eneral
statements regarding J&J's commitment to quality, research and development, and produc
safety” the Court finds thatertain statements within thcategory are actionable as geties
fraud, while others are not.

As an initial matter, some of the alleged misstatements within this category are clearly
more general statements regarding the Company’s values and motivations, and thiigtecons
puffery. For example, the Amendddomplaint identifies the following misstatemen(q)
statements on the Company’s website that J&J “continue[s] to take [its]atesedne next level
by looking at all the science . . . that help our babies thrive and grow” and that J&J “helgjglfami

make the little momentslike bath time” serve as “an opportunity to nurture your baby’s ability
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to learn,”AC 1278; @) a statements b$orsky during a January 2014 conference call that the
Company’s “Chief Medical and Chief Quality Officesise setting new benchmarks for medical
safety and implementing a more consistent global approach for monitoring the use of our end
market products that is very patiemind consumecentric for ensuring that they are safe and
performing as expected andiatended. While we're pleased with the progress that we’ve made
here, we're not yet satisfied, and we’ll keep doing whatever it takes to ehativeet continue to

earn the trust of consumers and patients around the wigkl&{]269; 8) a statement b§orsky

at an April 23, 2015 Shareholders Meeting, that “Johnson & Johnson is committed to helping
mothers and babies, we never want to forget the needs of the world’s smalless patieCaring
inspires us day in and day out as we strive to make a difference for people who count on us the
most. And as the world’s largest and best healthcare company in the world, we’retednimnit
reaching more people in more places in more ways. We're helping people ultimateindjee, |
healthier, and happier bs,” id. at §284; and(4) a statement by Gorsky at an April 2018
shareholder meeting that “at Johnson & Johnson, we are committed to meeting the needs of our
stakeholders, as defined in Our Credo, the doctors, the nurses and patients and theantbthers
fathers and all others who use our products. . . . Guided by our puipese strategies and values

that are rooted in our credo, we will always put the needs anébeialy of the people we serve
first,” id. at361. Tlese statements and other similar statements identified in th@ended
Complaint — are general valueriented statements regarding the Company’s commitment to
consumer safety; critically, many of these statements do not even specificatgsattte Talc
Products or make any specific claims abdut Company’s quality assurance process and
proceduresrelated to those product&ee Ong v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, In@94 F. Supp. 3d

199, 232 (S.D.N.Y. 2018Jfinding that company’s statements that it was “committed to serving
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safe, high quality footb [its] customers” and that its “food safety programs are also designed to
ensure that [the company] complfies] with applicable federal, state and wmal shfety
regulations” were inactionable puffery because they were “couched in asmtaterms.).
Unlike in Shapirqg where the defendant addressed specific business practices, these statements are
the type of “vague and general statements of optimism” and aspirational goal statemémely
issued by companies selling consumer products and not the type of assertions upon which a
reasonable investor would rehAdvanta 180 F.3d at 538ee also U.S. S.E.C. v. Kear691 F.
Supp. 2d 601, 617 (D.N.J. 2010) (finding that medical transcriptions company’s statements about
“disciplined business practice’hd the experience and discipline of its management team, were
merely puffery because no reasonable investor would have relied on themg;Hertz Glob.
Holdings, Inc. Sec. LitigNo. 137050, 2017 WL 1536223, at *11 (D.NApr. 27, 2017)aff'd
sub nom 905 F.3d 106 (3d Cir. 2018) (finding that statements about “strong” and “record”
financial results, as well as the generally optimistic statements, corsptuffery because they
“are not determinate, verifiable statemeits Thus, | find that the identified valueriented
statements- and other similar statementsare not sufficiently material to rise to liability for
securities fraud, and Plaintiff’'s claims premised on such statements aresdmis

However, certain statements regarding the Company’s quality assurance proeess we
ostensibly meant to preclude investors and the public from sep@wsing the Company’s
approach to quality assurance and reseastiich according tdPlaintiff, furthered the alleged
scheme to cover up the truth about the safety of the Talc Producsidition to the statements
regarding quality control and assurance in the Company’s SEC filings, mdhg bfdividual
Defendants made public announcements that, although theytdigewifically reference the Talc

Products, suggested that the Company was taking corrective action to address quality control
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issues with its products. For example, in a July 2013 conference call regarding thenempa
secondquarter 2013 financial results, Peterson explained that

[the Company’s] quality effort is across the enterprise, across all of
our businesses, our manufacturing sites as well as all of our R&D
sites, because they are under the scope of trying to ensure that we
have the highest standard of quality for the safety and care of our
patients and consumers. So, when we launched the quality initiative
a number of years ago, the focus really was on ensuring that we've
got consistent quality standards. . . . And we have, obviously as
we’ve gone through all of this work, we have identified corrective
actions, and we’ve immediately taken those corrective actions. . . .
We’re putting in place processes and systems so that we have early
warning systems in place to understand if we think there meay b
something going on with a product. So we identify it early and we
go out and correct it. . . . one of the very important changes that we
have been making with our global supply chain is ensuring that all
of our external suppliers- so, our material sufiprs — are
thoroughly reviewed, are thoroughly managed, and that they are
living up to our quality standard

id. at 261. Similarly, during healthcare conferenam January 12, 2015, Gorsky statbdtt
“quality and safetyfis] our numbefonepriority in dealing with patients and consumers. We've
made a number of changes over the last few years, frankly to make sure that we addyested
the outstanding issues that we were facing, but also more importantly to set us up fonzablenc
going forward” 1d. at 277.

By placing the nature of the Company’'s quality assurance procedures “in play,”
Defendants were also required dsclose“certain facts contradicting th[ose]representations.”
Shapirq 964 F.2d at 281. Here, Plaintiff specdlily alleges that, despite various individual
defendantsattestations to theontrary, theCompany was not focused on quality assuraacd,
research and development. The identified statements, and other similatiattesgo to the heart
of Plaintiff's theorythat the Company’s quality assurance procedures were intentionally deficient,

and that the Company deliberately avoided utilizing “essential” testing which migddl réne
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existence of asbestos in alc Products Other courts have similarly concludedtteatements
emphasizing the strength of a particular business operaagrbe actionable as securities fraud,
where hose operations are in realdgficient. See e.gln re Equifax Inc. Sec. Litig357 F. Supp.
3d 1189, 121819 (N.D. Ga. 2019)finding that defendast alleged representations that it

possessed a “highly sophisticated data information netveort™*advanced security protections”
were materiamisrepresentationshere the plaintiff alleged “a variety of facts showing that [the
company’s]cybersecurity systems were outdated, below industry standards, and vulnerable to
cyberattack, and that [the company] did not pricgitdata security efforts.”)Bricklayers &
Masons Local Union No. 5 Ohio Pension Fund v. Transocean &86. F. Supp. 2d 223, 243
(S.D.N.Y. 2012)(finding that defendantsllaged representations that“‘@onducted ‘extensive’
training and safety programskere materially misleading where the plaintiff alleged facts
suggesting that “the measures were insufficient to address applicable legegmemis and
created a high risk of legal exposure¢), Howard v. Arconic InG.395 F. Supp. 3d 516, 547
(W.D. Pa. 2019) (finding that company’s “general statements about its values, wodgitztge

and ethics-which readike mission statements rather than guarantees” were not misleading where
the plaintiff’'s securities fraud claintBd not involve safety issues, but rathavolved allegations

that the company sold a particular product for inappropriate end uses). Thus, at thie jumct

light of Plaintiff's allegations that the @npany was knowingly hiding the existence of asbestos
in its Talc Products purposefully avoiding the use of testing methods which might reveal the
existence of asbestos, amékingmisrepresentation® the FDA regarding asbestos testing and

safety, the Court cannot conclude that the Company’s representations thatf@cuwsasgon

research and developmeatsuringhe quality of its outside materiaksnd providing high quality
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products,were “so oliously unimportant to an investor that reasonable minds cannot differ on
the questions of materiality.Shapiro,964 F.2d. at 280.

2. Statements that the Talc Products were
“safe” and “asbestos free”

Defendants alsoontend that thetatementghat the Talc Productze“safe” and “asbestos
free” are inactionable. Def. Br. at 9. First,Defendants argudat trosestatements ar&ctually
true, asPlaintiff hasfailed to identify data, test results, or other facts supporting the infeteatce t
the statementsvere false at the time they were maded secondthat even if proven fals¢he
statementsre inactionable opinian Def. Br. at 20 ECF No. 48, Reply Brief to Opposition to
Motion (“Def. ReplyBr.”) at 5. In that connectioDefendantsnsistthat Plaintiff has not provided
“contemporaneous testing dataidicating the existence of asbestos in tlkmmpany’s Talc
Productsand that Plaintiff reéson isolated and debunked testing reswhsch are insufficent to
adequately allegihatthe Talc Products were unsafe or contaminated with asbestos between 2013
and 2018. Def. Br. at 2223. In Defendants’ view, the historical allegations regarding the
avoidance of essential testing methods in the 1970thafidding of asbestos in tHgaby Powder
in 2004, “are irrelevant to the question of whether Defendants made misstateagantsng
troubling testing results regarding asbestos during (or anywhere near)itctithve Class Period”
which began in 2013Def. Reply Br. at 5.Further, Defendantargue that the statemerare “at
most, subjective interpretations of complex data, which constitute inactiaabien statements
that cannot support a claim for securities frauDéf. Reply Br. at 6.

Plaintiff disputes Defendantsharacterizatioof thestatementsegarding the asbestos free
nature of their products as opinions, and corgeth@t Defendants'statements‘were not
‘subjective interpretation[s] or expression[s] of belief,” but rathg@ainted a favorablpicture

without including the details that witil have presented a complete and fagsrable one.” PI.
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Br. at 18 (quotingSEB Inv. Mgmt. AB v. Endo Int'l, PL.G51 F. Supp. 3d 874, 9q&.D. Pa.
2018)). Furthermore, even if thetatementsare found to be opinions, in Plaintiff's view,
Defendants d not honestly believe the profferefatementsegarding the safety of talas
indicated by the Company’s internal documents] Defendantdacked a reasonable bas$s
makingthe proffered statementdd. at 19. Additionally, Plaintiff contends that “Defendants’
statements put the safety and purported asb&stesature of the products at issue, but withheld
existing material idrmation on those same subjegttsuch as J&J's alleged avoidance of
important testing methods, J& unsuccessfuhttempts to remove tremolite from its talc, and the
Company’s alleged scheme to conceal the asbestidaminationaccording to Plaintiff, these
omissiongenderedhe Company’statements materially misleadingl. Br. at 30.Thus, Plantiff
argues thatooth Defendants’ historical statements, and those during the Céaisd,Rare
materially misleadingld.

The Court finds tha®laintiff has sufficiently alleg#facts suggesting th#tat Defendants
statements regardirthe safety and asbestos free nature of its Talc Products were either false or
materally misleading at the time they were madd&o begin, h addition to public statements in
newspapers and to investors during conference calls, during the Class period, the Company
repeatedlyssued statements on its website reaffirming the safety of talc and its talctprdchec
Company’s “Our Safety and Care Commitment” website was updated to include thanigllow
statement fronCasalviei, Director of Toxicology and Skincare, which stated that

[a]s a toxicologist in our Consumer business, my job is to make

certain a product is safe by assessing whether any ingredient in that
product poses a risk. We want to assure women and caregivers who
use our talc products that numerous studies support its safety, and
these include assessments by external experts in addition to our
company testing. Many research papers and epidemiology studies

have specifically evaluated talc and perineal use arse thieidies
have found talc to be safe.
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AC 1266. On February 24, 2016pllowing the $72 million verdict in one of the first successful
cases linking talc and ovarian canci) allegedly created a page on its website, entifldok
Facts About Talc Safety” whickxplainedamong other things, that “Johnson’s talc products do
not contain asbestos,” the “[tlhe safety of talc is based on a long history of safe useaaled dec
of research by independent researchers and scientific review boandsthat the Company’s
“sources for talc undergo comprehensive qualification. Themireg talc is routinely evaluated
using a sophisticated battery of tests designed to ensure quality, safety, and comilraatie
global standards.”ld. at 1299 see alsd[147 Similarly, Goodrich was quoted in a New York
Daily News articlefollowing theLanzoverdict, as stating that “Johnson’s Baby Powder has been
used for more than 120 years and it does not contain asbestos or cause mesotHdliat§359
Notwithstanding those statemenBaintiff's Complaintalleges that during the Class
Period, J&J and Goodrich internally acknowledged that the Company could not espotisécthat
has over 100 years of safe use in personal care prgductat 11128, 267see alscAC EX. 2
that J&J’s outside tesig laboratory did not think the testing method used by J&J was “optimal”
for identifying asbestodgd. at 110; and that “[tjo this day, J&J has not adopted concentration
method for testing its talc despite the Company’s knowledge that this would allowaretsct
asbestos in its talc and talcum powders when present in trace amalurasfi67. To the extent
Defendants rely onthertests as providing a reasonable and good faith basis for their statements,
Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged the existenof alternative testing and that Defendatlsgedly
choseto remain willfully ignorantof the possibility that theneas asbestas the Company’s Talc
Products. Additionally, Plaintiff claims that Goodrich admitted internally that scientific sources
“could be interpreted as suggesting a causal effect” between talc and ovarian cancer, and that

studies cited by J&J “send mixed messagéd."at1266268.
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Indeed, a alleged,Defendants wer admittedly aware ofontrary test resultand yet,
indicated to the public at large, via statements on the Company wahditlsewherehat J&J
had ‘carefully assessed all available data on talc @mtsumers can feel confident that the
overwhelming body of research and clinical evidence continues to support the safetpeticcos
talc” Id. at 1288 Thus, Plaintiffhassufficiently alleged the existence of scientific eviderafe
which defendants were awasejggestinghe fdsity of Defendants’ statementdthough expert
discovery may eventually prove otherwise, at this early juncture, the Courhesshose
statements to be trueAccordingly,the Court finds thaDefendants statements that their Talc
Products were asbestbige, in the face of the allegedntrary scientific evidenchat Defendants
were awar®f, werearguablyfalse.

Furthermore, even assuming Defendants’ statements wereynugigions based on
assessmeiff all the scientific evidence availablettee CompanyPlaintiff has sufficiently alleged
that the statements were “materially misleadibgcause they did not express the actual belief of
the Company and lacked a reasonable b&ity. of Edinburgh754 £.3d at 170In Omnicare the
Supreme Court explained that an opinion may be an actionable misrepresentation orngisleadi
omission if (1)thestatement expresses an opinion not actually held by the speaker (subjectively
false) and contains an embedded assertion of incorrect facts (objectivelyoia{the speaker
omits facts concerning the basis for the opinion and “those facts conflict with wbas@nable
investor would take from the statement itselid’ at 1326, 132%ee also City of Edinburgfi54
F.3d at 170 (“Opinions are only actionable under the securities laws if they are not honestly
believed and lack a reasonable basis.”).

Although Defendant’s statements regarding the safety of its Talc Products requied s

degree of interpretation of scientific evidence, here, unlikéityr of Edinburgh Plaintiff alleges
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that defendant’s own internal statements undercut their public interpretatibesdaté available.

In that casginvestordrought a securities fraud suit agaiRgrzer, gpharmaceutical manufacturer,
and the company’s executive€ity of Edinburgh 754 F.3d at 17.0The gaintiff alleged thathe
pharmaceutical manufacturer’'s statement in a press release, that it piaprneckedo the third
phase of a clinical trial of an experimental dbhaged on the success of the second phasersint
results, was false and actionable as securities frédid.The plaintiff alleged that confidential
witnesses from the company indicated that phase 2 of the trial had preserded sadety
concerns and did not showsggnificantdeviation between patients treated with the experimental
drug and the placebdd. In reviewing the allegations, the Third Circuit concluded that at best
plaintiff's allegations demonstrated “a difference of opinion” regarding wheéthgting phase

3 of the clinical trial was warrantednd absent allegations th@¢éfendants did not honestly
believe their interpretation of the interim results or that it lacked a reasonaid&tha opinion
was not actionable as securities fraud. Further,the Third Circuit noted thathat the press
releasadid not proffer statements about the efficacy or safety of the drug, or the strenigéh of
results, and in fact, explicitly cautioned investors that no conclusion could be drawnhabout t
phase 2 interim results until the conclusion of the phase 2 ldisdt 17475. Here, unlike itCity

of Edinburgh J&J’'s statements regarding the safety of its Talc Products and the exisfence
asbestos in those produds, alleged, do not merely stem from a diffeeem opinion regarding
the efficacy of the testing utilized or the interpretation of the scientific sestititically, Plaintiff

has alleged that the Company’s own internal documentstatementslirectly contradicted the
Company’s public statements regardihg safetyof the Talc ProductsC.f.Hoey v. Insmed Inc

No. 164323, 2018 WL 902266, at *157 (D.N.J. Feb. 15, 201@)nding thatplaintiff had failed

to adequately allege falsity where there wesallegations of the company being “informeduatbo
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any concerns” with the trial and no allegations that defendant doubted or contradicted the opinion
it representedo investory For examplethe draft version of the Company’s “Safety & Care
Commitment” deliberately omitted the word “safe” from the Company’s statemenfliattfas

over 100 years dofafeuse in personal care products” and internal comments by Goodrich stated
“I don’t think we can link cosmetic talc to 100 years of use,” and that J&J “cannot ay [th
company’sTalc Productshave] ‘always™ been asbestos freédC 128 see alscAC, Ex. 2
Furthermore, another note in the draft document acknowddtige there were omittestientific
sources from the webpage which “could be interpreted as suggesting a causdbetifestn
ovarian cancer and tafchnd noted that even some of thedses references on the webpage “send
mixed messagésbecause one of the studies cited indicated that “that ‘perineal talc use may
modestly increase the risk of invasive serous ovarian cancdds.’dt §131. Furthermore, the
internal documents referenced in the Reuters article allegedly show that
from at least 1971 to the early 2000s, @mnpany’s raw talc and finished powders sometimes
tested positive for small amounts of asbestos, and that company executives, minersnanag
scientists, doctors atawyersdiscussedhe problem and how to address it while failing to disclose

it to regulators or the publicld. at 1223. Although Defendants correctly contend that the last
alleged test which identified asbestos in any of the Talc Products was conducted in 2@@4, the |
of contemporaneous testing during the Class Period is not dispositive of Plaindifis.c5ee

Def. Br. at 23. The misstatements identified by Plaintiff doontyt address thpreseniday safety

of Talc Products during the Class Period. Plaintiff alleges ithaddition to making statements
about the current safety of the Talc Products, at various points throughout the Clads Peri
defendants also allegedly represented that the Talc Products had never d astaéstos and had

always been safeSee e.g.AC 1338 (Since the 1970s, talc used in consumer products has been
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required to be asbestéree, salohnson’s talc products do not contain asbestok'at{339 (“We
are confident that our talc products are, and always have been, free of ashestiosn hkezades
of monitoring, testing and regulationidl. at350 (same)d. at{369 (“While our ingedients have
always been safe, our new formulations contain no unwanted ingrediefi&t'g importantly,
Plaintiff alleges thatlespite being aware pbtentialasbestogontaminationn its TalcProducts,
J&J did not conduct further scientific studies, using the appropriate methodology, bechase it
to remainwillfully blind to the exisence of asbestos in its tal&ccordingly, the alleged evidence
of historical testing— of which Defendants were allegedly awargenders those statements
materially misleading, dhis pleading stage.
Accordingly, Plaintiff has sufficiently allegetidt Defendants statements that J&J's Talc
Products were “safe” and “asbestos free” were either dalsgateriallymisleading.
3. The Statements Regarding the Product Liability Lawsuits
Plaintiff allegesthat Defendants repeatedly represented to J&J’'s investors that the

Companybelieves it hassubstantial defenses” to the Produibility lawsuits. SeeAC at TR59,
272,274, 97. The AmendedComplaint alleges that in various SEC filinggfendants “boasted
of having substantial defenses” to tadtatedlitigation, but omitted critical informatiothat
undermines its statements such as, the prior findings of asbestos in the Companihe talc
Company’s attempts to removeetmolite from its talg andthe Canpany’s avoidance of
concentration methodsahcould potentially dete@sbestosld. a 166, 169, 272, 389, 3991.
For example, in the Company’s First Quarter 201¥)1@-disclosed that

[c]ertain subsidiaries ofJ&J] are involved in numerous prock

liability cases. The damages claims are substantial, and while these

subsidiaries are confident of the adequacy of the warnings and

instructions for use that accompany the products at issue, it is not

feasible to predict the ultimate outcome of litigat The Company
has established product liability accruals in compliance with ASC
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45020 based on currently available information, which in some

cases may be limited. Changes to the accruals may be required in

the future as additional information beconagsilable.
AC 1259. Additionally, variousndividual defendantsnadestatements criticizing thieanzoand
Inghamverdicts against J&J and avowing that they would be overturned on appeal, such as, “[w]e
believe that once the full evidence is reviewed, this decision will be relyessel “the evidence
in the case was simply overwhelmed by the prejudice,” andhib@were “multiple errors” in
the verdictsld. at 11148, 205, 2122, 358 Plaintiff argues that Defendatunderstood J&J
faced massive litigation exposurggt did not disclose the degree of that exposure to its investors,
thus Defendants’ statememégyarding the Talc Litigation were “false and misleading statements.”
Pl. Br. at 30.

Defendants contend that those statements are nonactionable opinions, as indicated by the
repeated use of the word “believe,” and Plaintiff has not demonstrated tlestd@ets did not
actually believe that the Company had substantial deferi3et.Br. at 29. In that regard, the
Defendants highlight “numerous recent jury verdicts” in favor the Compaej..Reply Br. at 9
10.

Defendants’ statements regarding the Vighof the lawsuits against J&J cleadgnstitute
opinions regarding the success of litigation, rather tharstatement®f fact. SeeAxar Master
Fund, Ltd. v. Bedford308 F. Supp. 3d 743, 757 (S.D.N.Y. 2018) (finding litigatiodisclosure
stating that “[w]e believe the allegations [in a lawsuit] are unfounded and withoitit amef that
defendant intended to “pursue [its] rights, remedies and defenses in the litiggasnim-
actionable opinion statement).Plaintiff has not aelquately alleged facts suggesting that
Defendants’ opinion statements regarding the existence of defenses to the proditycldiabilits

were “not honestly believed and lack a reasonable basiy."of Edinburgh 754 F.3d at 170
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Plaintiff's argument on this point is, essentiatlyat becausPefendant&knowingly engagedn a
fraudulent scheme to conceal the truth about its asbestos pronhunetst thestatementsegarding
the viability of the lawsuits againgte Companyould havepossiblybeenin good faith. That
type of circular reasoning is insufficient to satisfy the Supreme Court’siateéisOmnicare
Notably, even assuming as true that there was asbestos in J&J's Talc RtbéuCtsmpany may
very well have defensds the lawsuitgpremised on other bes such as lack of causatjoor
procedural issues occurring at tridlaintiff has not identified any specific facts indicating that
any of theDefendantgpossessed information regarding the viability of the lawsuits against the
Company orsuggesting that Defendants knew they had no viable defenses against the lawsuit.
Indeed, the Company continues to actually litigate these cases to resolution, vatBusmess,
demonstrating its belief in the viability of its defenségcordngly, Plaintiff's claims premised
on alleged misstatements regarding the viability of the Product Liability lawsuitiésanessed.
ii. Scienter

Scienter” stands for the “mental state [of] intent to deceive, manipulate ordléfEanst
& Ernst v. Hochfeldr, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n. 12 (197@&)nder thd®SLRA'’s pleading requirement,
a plaintiff must* state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that tlesdaht
acted with the required state of mitfidAvaya 564 F.3d at 267 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78b)(2)).
The scienter standard requires a plaintiff to allege facts giving risermng stference “of either
reckless or conscious behavioRtdvanta 180 F.3d at 534-35. Courts must weigh the “plausible,
nonculpable explanations fohd defendant’s conduct” against the “inferences favoring the
plaintiff.” Tellabs 551 U.S. at 324A “strong inference” of scienter is one that is “cogent and at
least as compelling as any opposing inference of nonfraudulent intdnat 314;seeid. at 324

(“The inference that the defendant acted with scienter need not be irrefuéaldéthe ‘smoking
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gun’ genre, or even the most plausible of competing inferences” (internal quotation marks
omitted)). Scienter can typically be shown via recklesss, which is defined as “an extreme
departure from the standards of ordinary carewhich presents a danger of misleading that

is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the actor must be awarénofatPhillips
Petroleum Sec. tig., 881 F.2d 1236, 1244 (3d Cir. 1989) (internal quotation marks omitted).
However, “it is not enough for plaintiffs to merely allege that defendants ‘knew’dtagegments
were fraudulent or that defendants ‘must have known’ their statements isere &C Partners
CDO Fund v. Washingter868 F.3d 228, 239 (3d Cir. 2004Rather, gplaintiff must, at least,
specifically allege facts constituting strong circumstantial evidencedii@ndants knew or, more
importantly, should have known that they were npsesenting material facts related to the
corporation.” In re Campbell Soup Co. Sec. Liti@45 F.Supp.2d 574, 599 (D.N.J.2001).

In conducting the scienter analysis, “[t]he inquiry.is whether all of the facts alleged,
taken collectively, give rise tostrong inference of scienter, not whether any individual allegation,
scrutinized in isolation, meets that standar@i€llabs 551 U.S. at 3223 (emphasis in original).
However, the Third Circuit has “explicitly approved of scienter analyses thatsaisd&idual
categories of scienter allegations individually when it is clear, as it is thetea district court
ultimately considered the allegations as a wholé€itz, 905 F.3dat 115(citing OFI Asset Mgmt.

v. Cooper Tire & Rubbei834 F.3d 481, 493 (3d Cir. 2016) (concluding that just because a court
is “thorough in explaining why it found scienter lacking as to each asserted misrepi@selo@s

not suggest that it did not consider the allegations as a whae®)lso Avayé64 F.3d at 280
(“Although we have discussed each of the alleged facts bearing on defendants’ scientar one a
time, we have heedeBlellabss command to evaluate [the plaintiffs’] allegations collectively

rather than individually.”). Accordingly, the Court will, therefore, follow this approach and
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consider the alleged facts bearing on scienter individually, while at the sameacinsidering
whether, holistically, they give rise to a strong inference of scienter.

Here, Plaintiff contendsthat Defendantsconsistent and repeated denials that there was
not, and hanever been, asbestos in the Company’s Talc Prodretadicative of scienter in light
of the various effortallegedlytaken by Defendants to conceal the truth.at 37. In that regard,
Plaintiff identifies certain public statements by Glasgow, Casaliveri, amdk§ as well as
internal documents drafted by Casalvieri and Goodrich, wRigintiff arguesare also indicative
of scienter. Id. at 3740. Furthermore, Plaintiff alleges thétecause Baby Powder is the
Company’s “sacred cow” and “flagship” product, “[t]he perceived importance of [Baby Plowde
supports an inference that [defendants were] paying close attention to [it]y. Bt.48l (quoting
Avaya 564 F.3d at 271), as doe® tbxtensiveness of tli@ompanys scheme and the number of
employees allegedly involvedl. at 47. Additionally, Plaintiff contends that ongoing government
investigations, including by the FDA, SEC, DOJ, and U.S. Senate, further support the strong
inference of scienterld. at 48.

Defendants, in turn, argue that tleere operations doctriheloes not support anference
of scienter under the circumstances, as the Talc Products represent J&&so€ombined
company ales Def. Br. at 3637; Def. Reply Br. at 12; AC af186. Further, Defendants argue
that Plaintiff has not pled specific facts showing that “any individual Defendanaware of any
credibletest results that contradicted JJ’s public statements, let alone that any Defetettaled
to deceive investors.” Def. Reply Br. at 12.

As an initial matter, the Court finds that the each of the alleged misrepreserahissuse

involve the “core operations” of J&3upporting an inference of scienter. The “core operations
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doctrine’® provides that a plaintiff may be able demonstrat@ strong inference of scienter by
alleging “that a defendant made misstatements concerning the ‘core mattersrafimportance
to a company.’Martin v. GNC Holdings, Inc.757 F. App'x 151, 155 (3@ir. 2018);see also

Avaya 564 F.3d at 268 (explaining that when the misrepresentations and omissions involve “ ‘core
matters’ of central importance” to the company and its principle executivesfeaance of
scienter may arise) In order to support éinding of scienter based upon the core operations
doctrine, paintiff must also allege “some additional allegation of specific information cauvey

to management and related to the fraud.”(internal quotation marks omittedeeRahman 736

F.3dat (declining to apply core operations doctrine in the absence of allegations detingnstra
that defendants knew the information they disseminated wa$, fels@maNet 720 F. Supp. 2d

at 566 (rejecting application of the core operations doctrine in absence of “otheduatizad
allegations”);In re Amarin Corp. PLCCiv. No. 13-6663, 2015 WL 3954190, at *12 (D.N.J. Jun.

29, 2015) (rejecting application of the core operations doctaingent particularized allegations

showing that defendants had ample reason to know of the falsity of their statements”).

® In addition to the core operations doctrine, the parties also discuss the “tospigater,” also
known as “collective scienter” doctrinéJnder that doctrine, a plaintiff mauccessfullyplead

an inference of scienter against a corporate defemdt@ut raising the same inferences required
to attribute scienter to an individual defenda®dahman 736 F.3d at 246 Defendants contend
that Plaintiffimplicitly raises a “corporate scienter” theory because the Amended Compliant does
not tie the scieter allegations to any Individual Defendants. Plaintiff contends that the Third
Circuit has suggested that the corposatienter doctrine may be viable where a company
“engaged in a variety of tactics . . . to keep news of the scope of the problene&arng safety
regulators and imrestors,” as alleged here. Pt. Bt 49. n.42 (internal citations and quotation marks
omitted). The Third Circuit has “neither ... accepted nor rejected the doctrine ofaterpoenter

in securities fraud actionsRahman 736 F.3d at 246ee also City of Roseville Emps. Ret.,Sys.
442 F. App’x at 67&/7 (declining to decide “if ... it were possible to plead scienter against a
corporation without pleading scienter against an individual”). However, Plaintiff doeglnot
solely on corporate scienter; the Amended Complaint does, in fact, proffer individualize
allegations of scienter as to each Individual Defendant. Accordingly, this Court needmbt
does not- determine whether corporate scienter, alone, iSagpeé to the instant facts.
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Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged thahe Talc Products are a “core matter” of central
importance. Avaya 564 F.3d at 268Although Defendants contend that the Talc Products make
up only .3% of te Company’s total sales, Plaintiff has alleged that that the Company views its
Talc Products, more specifically Baby Powder, as “an institution,” “flagsligyat,” and “sacred
cow.” AC 1143,47.0ne corporate representataegedly testified under oathatBaby Powder
is among “the top one or two products that people think of when they think of J&=at412.

In June 2012, the entire Board of Directors allegedly received, via email, a piieseotehe
“reputational risk” the talcelated lawsuits posed to the Compang. at171. The safety of
J&J’s selfprofessed flagship product clearly falls within tbempany’s core operationdlakor

Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs In&13 F.3d 702, 709 (7th Cir. 2008)oting that alleged
misrepresentations at issue in securities fraud case involved compaagshifi product” thus,
finding it “exceedingly unlikely” that false statements about product were innocentlg ma
corporate executiveshn re Allergan Generic Drug Pricing Sec. LitjgNo. 169449, 2019 WL
3562134, at *12 (D.N.J. Aug. 6, 2019) (applying core operations doctrine where alleged
misrepresentaons addressed three drugs that made up a “substantial portion” of the defendant
company’s revenues and operations during the class periddcordingly, Plaintiff has
sufficiently alleged that the misstatements and omissions at issue in this casepoocl&J’s

“core operations."However the Court must also assess whether Plaintffi® operationtheory

of scienteris supported by additional specific allegations that each of the Indivikiahdants’

had access tepecific information related to ttedlegedfraud and the Talc ProducRahman 736

F.3d at 247.

1. Gorsky
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With respect talefendant @sky, Plaintiff alleges that that hgubicly stated that he had
been ‘paying attention to ‘the significant amount of clinical information [and] control’ data
involving talc and talcum powders, including from agencies like the National Cantiéuténs
(“NCI”) and FDA, and claimed to have sufficient knowledge to form an opinion on ‘the safety of
talc” AC 11394. During a health care conference in September 2017, Gorsky allegedly assured
investors thatmore than a 100 years of experience,” and findings from agencies, including the
FDA “clearly demonstrate[d] the safety of talcld. at {335. Further, Plaintiff alleges that on
June 6, 2017Gorsky received an emailhich provided an update on the talc lawsuits and
discussedhe potential “reputational risk” éhlawsuits posed to the Compang. atf171. Gorsky
also assured investors, on at least one occatkiatthe Company’s “Chief Medical and Chief
Quality Officers [were] setting new benchmarks for medical safety” and d&Jmonitoring the
use ofour end market products” to “ensulre] that they are s&dedt 1133

As alleged, Gorskyepeatedlyprofessed to have knowledge regarding kbt current
science as to the safety of Talod the Company’'squality assurance proceduresiowever,
Gorsky began serving as the Company’s CEO in 2012, just as the allegations betweaah talc a
cancer began to reach theénith and has continued to serve as CEO throughout the Class.Period
In that timeperiod, a2016 internal audit report allegedly discoveredldy assurance issues at
the lab where J&J performed its asbestos testing, and revealed that the Comgingdts rfor
testing its talc were “questionable at best” and “not an optimal method for astessiog.” 1d.
at 1165, 111. Given Gorsky’s professed knowledge of the safety of talc, at best, he recklessly
disregarded potentially contrary faetsnany of which involved incidents which occurred during
histenure as CEO© Gorsky’s failure to disclose the contrary information of whiewlas allegedly

aware is suggestive of scient68EB Inv. Mgmt. AB v. Endo Int'l, PL.@51 F. Supp. 3d 874, 906
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(E.D. Pa. 2018ffinding scienter where plaintiff alleged that company executives maaddic
comments regarding the clinical data in press releases and earnings calls” becau$edis “o
were speaking as authoritative sources who possessed the information to supsteténeents.
When they did so, they knew that withholding the negative data that contradicted their public
statements was wsleading to investors.” Accordingly, the @urt finds that Plaintiff has
sufficiently alleged that Gorsky knew, or had reason to know, ofalleged falsity of his
statementghus Plaintiff has adequately alleged a strong inference of scanterGorsky.

2. Caruso

As to Caruso, Plaintiff alleges that as CFO of the Company, he was responssigaifagy
the Company’s SEC filings and ensuring thatsteementgontained therein were not false or
materially misleading.AC at 395. Additionally,Plaintiff alleges thaturing the Class Period,
Caruso led the Company’s investor relations activities, whatfactively guaranteed that Caruso
had access to the information that defendants withheld from investors during the @lzssS Pe
Id.

Plaintiff has not sufficiently alleged that specific information regardincatleged fraud
was conveyed to Caruso. Plaintiff's only allegations in that regard are that Carsisoave had
information regarding the Companyiséidulent scheme becaussawas the CFQvhosigned the
Company’s SEC filings. However, “general awareness of tlilee dayto-day workings of th
company’s business does not establish scierRafiman.736 F.3dat 247. Accordingly,the
Court finds that Plaintiff has not alleged apecific facts suggesting th@aruso had knowledge
of theallegedfalsity of any of the statements in the SEC filings.

3. Goodrich
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Goodrich allegedly personally worked on the Company’s “Our Safety & Care
Commitment” webpage, and toutidc’s “long history of safe use,” and use “for over 100 years,”
despiteinternally expressing misgivingthat £J could not accurately say that talas ‘always”
safe. Id. at 401. Goodrich was alsallegedlyaware, as indicated by commentary on a draft of
the webpagethat other scientific sources not cited e “Our Safety & Care Commitment”
website could actually “be interpreted as suggesting a causal effect” bebdeamd ovarian
cancer Id. Additionally, she recognized thge]ven some of the studies” cited by J&J on its
website sent “mixed messages,” idihg a study recognizing thgbérineakalc use may modestly
increaséthe risk of ovarian canceild. These alleged contradictions between Goodrich’s public
and internal statementslemonstrate actual knowledge of th#eged falsity of her public
statementsThus,the Court finds tha®laintiff has adequately alleged a strong inference of scienter
as to Goodrich.

4. Casalvieri

Like Goodrich, Casalviens also alleged to haveeen involvedn drafting andissuing
public statements on the Companwebsite. Casalvierri was featured on the Comparisr
Safety & Care Commitmentyhich represented that “[w]e have carefully assessed all available
data on talc,” including the “body of research and clinical evidemdedt402. She also issued
othe public statements where she professed to examine “assessments by exterrsil angbert

emphasized that “[a]s a toxicologist in our Consumer business,” “my job is to cedkén a
product is safe.” Id. Furthermore,internal company emails indicate thglie was allegedly
assigned the task of directing J&J’s project “to defend faten potentialinclusion in the NTP’s
biennial RoC. Id. at 1403. That project allegedly included “develop[ing] documents that

scientifically support the lack of a relationship of talc and ovarian caraetsecretly funding a
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-study supportive of talcld. at 1403. As alleged,Casalvieriwas heavily involved in the
Company’s scheme to preclude the NTP andratinganizations from listing talc as a potential
carcinogen.Accordingly,the Court finds that Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged a strong inference
of scienter as to Casalvieri.
5. Peterson

Plaintiff generally alleges thdtecausef her position in the Company, Peterson was, at
the very leastreckless to the potential falsity of her statements regarding the Company’g qualit
assurance systemin that regard, Plaintiff alleges that Peterson was brought into her Gleas
Worldwide Chai, for the purpose of “fixing the consumer and supply chain issues once and for
all.” Id. at 404. In thatole, she allegedlyepresented to investors that she was paying attention
to and implementing J&J’s “processes and systems so that [3kédrly warning systems” to
monitor potential product problemsld. at §405. However, Plaintiff has not alleged facts
suggesting that during hegnureat J&J Peterson was aware of, or should have been avfare
specific facts alerting her to existing quality control issues, rendering her statemimgs fa
Peterson joined the CompanySeptembeR012, well after the most recent testing in 2004 which
indicated asbestos in J&J’s Talc Produdts atf88. Similarly, theaudit report indicatinguality
control issues with J&J’s outside asbestos testing facility was rdl@agegril 2012, before she
was hired by J&JId. at]110. Plaintiff has not adequately alleged that Peterson’s had knowledge
of, or reason to knowh#t her statements regarding the Company’s quality control systems were
false, or that Peterson was aware of the alleged scheme to prevent theotithebafety of talc
from reaching the public.

In addition to Peterson’s alleged knowledge of the Gaomgjs core operationsPlaintiff

alleges that Peterson retired under suspicious circumstances, supporting aneirdeserenter:

51



“(i) Peterson’s retirement was close in time to the first jury finding in faver ghintiff alleging

harm fromasbestos in J&J's talcum powders, (ii) Peterson had been brought in to fix the JJCI
business’s quality control issues but elected to retire at a time when the busihessy/lserious
quality control issues still unresolved, (iii) Peterson had taken additional leadership role only

one year prior, (iv) J&J was required to shuffle various executives around as a resiérebn’s
departure to leave, indicating lack of a premeditated transition plan, and (v) at leasttys¢
following J&J expressed surprise at the announcement due to the strange fidniatfj206.

Under certain circumstances, the departure of a corporate executive carhstreayt
inference of scienter."For a resignation to add to an inference of scienter, a pleading nust se
forth allegations suggesting a compelling inference that the resignation wasithefresmething
other than ‘the reasonable assumption that the resignation occurred as a relselteléase of
bad news.Hertz, 905 F.3cht118 (quotingZucco Partners, LLC v. Digimarc Carb52 F.3d 981,

1002 (9th Cir. 2009), amended on other grounds, (Feb. 10, 2009)). As the Third Circuit explained
in Hertz, “[c]hanges in leadership are only to be expected when leadership fails. Thatais not
symbol of fraud. Corporate resignations do not strengthen an inference of scienter, lees, as

the allegations do not cogently suggest that the resignations resulted from the relematintesst
knowing or reckless involvement in a fraud.td. In this case Plaintiff alleges that the
announcement of Peterson’s resignation occurred on June 22, 2018, just over two months after the
first jury verdict against J&J in a case alleging harm from asbestos in the Comaty’
Products AC 1211.First, as alleged, #re is no indication, aside from the timing of the
announcement, that Peterson’s departure from the company was relateistoveryof her
involvement in the fraud Roofers Pension Fund v. Pap&lo. 162805, 2018 WL 3601229, at

*20 (D.N.J. July 27, 208) (finding “some probative value,” in employee’s resignation, which was
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announced the same day as an investigation into company’s revenue recognition practices but
noting thatdeparturavas not “involuntary or accompanied by some form of corporate sarigtio
In re Intelligroup Sec. Litig.527 F.Supp.2d 262, 347 (D.N.J. 2007)(“a defendant's resignation
could constitute a ‘piece to the scienter puzzle’ if the resignation both takesyithin a couple
of months of the announcement of the errors committed and is accompanied by an extyaordinar
corporate punishment measugay, denial of severance payment.BurthermorePlaintiff's own
theory of the case undercutse inference of scientetA resignation may support a finding of
scienterbecause it may be implied that the individual knew of the fraud being perpetratasd. O
those outside the fraud find out, supposedly, they terminate (or force to resign) all thoseywho ma
have been responsibleln re ToronteDominion Bank Sec. Litig.No. 171665, 2018 WL
6381882, at *18 (D.N.J. Dec. 6, 2018)ere, howeverPlaintiff’'s theory of the case is thtdie
alleged fraud was a lorgtanding comprehensivicheme reaching into every crevice of the
Company; yet, paradoxically, Peterson was the eyag allegedly impacted by the scheme’s
reveal. The inference that Peterson resigned, or was forced to resign, due to herhrele in t
fraudulent scheme, is not as compelling or cogent as the inference that she resigneel for ot
business reasons.

Accordingly, the Court finds thaPlaintiff has not sufficiently alleged, utilizing the core
operations theory astherwise, particularizefhcts supporting a strong inference of scienter as to

Peterson.

6. Glasgow
Plaintiff alleges thatGlasgow the Company’s Vice President of Research and
Development, madeublic statements emphasizing that she, and others at the Company had

allegedlyreviewed “decades” of scientific data on the safety of talc. aff2l07. $ie allegedly,
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“held herself out akaving reviewed “30 years of scientific studies and regulatory reviews,” along
with “the medical facts and science” regarding the Company’s talcum powaldugs” and
represented that she had reviewed the studies, “science, research and clinic exedendeiy

the safety of taldd. at408.

Takingthose allegationat facevalue, Glasgowvould have been aware of the allegedly
contrary scientific evidence identified by Plaintiff. Accordingly, the Cdéuads that Galsgow’s
unqualified statements regarding the safetyadt,tin the face of the contrary evidence, are
suggestive of scienterSeeln re RAIT Fin. Tr. Sec. Lii, 2008 WL 5378164, at *121.3 (E.D.

Pa. Dec. 22, 2008) (finding scienter where plaintiff alleged that the individual defendaats we
senior executives, with access to information contradicting their public staggment
7. Sneed

As to Sneed, Plaintiff &¢gesthat as VP of Global Corporate Affairs, Sneed was
“responsible for public relations and knew that checking the accuracy of corporeneesits was
vitally important.”ld. atY409.Thus, in Plaintiff's view, he knew or recklessly disregarded that his
statements were false and misleadiliy As an initial matter, many of the misstatements attributed
to Sneedall within the category of statements which this Court has already identifiealff@sy
and determined to be inactionable as securitiesdfrélaintiff alleges thatthe misleading
statements proffered by Sneed include, statements made at a 2013 annual sharehwigehateet
that J&J had “really embraced transparency”; that J&J had a history of and ivers loy
“car[ing] unconditionally for others™ and that it had “‘own[ed] up to [its] mistakeéand that
J&J made “great strides” in “really get[ting] past” the quality issues thep@onynfacedld. at

1257. To the extent those statements are the only ones alleged to have been made by Sneed, the
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Court need not assess whether they were made with scieetause Plaintiff has not adequately
alleged that the statements were materially misleading.

Regardlessthe Court finds that Plaintiff has not adequately alleged facts suggesting that
Sneed acted with scienter. The sole allegations Plaintiff makes in that regareharaliged
allegations regarding his role in the Company. Absent additional allegations aficspec
information conveyed to Sneed, such generalized statements cannadtelyegllege scienter.
Rahman 736 F.3d at 247.

8. The Context and Content of the Individual Defendant's
Statements Indicates Scienter

Additionally, irrespective of the core operations doctrine, the content and context of many
of the alleged misleadingademend further enhances the finding of scientath respect to the
individual defendants whom the Court has found to have the requisite sciSeteldtesch v.
Lannett Co., Inc385 F. Supp. 3d 408, 422 (E.D. Pa. 201'9heé most powerfukvidence of
scienter is the content and context’ of the misleading statemefuisdting Avayag 564 F.3d at
269)). In Avaya the company’s CEO made statements “repeatedly assur[ing] analysts and
investors that although there was pressure in the market, there were noaiguetianges to the
pricing environment.564 F.3d at 245. The plaintiffs alleged that the CFO made these statements
while “kn[owing] of or recklessly disregard[ing] the fact that competition wasirig unusually
large 20% to 40% price discounts that were hurting profit mardiths Addressing whether the
complaint adequately alleged that those statements were made with scienterrdh@irchit
explained that:

[tlaken together, the extent of the alleged discounting, the
importanceo the “Avaya story” of maintaining margins, the
amount by which the second quarter results missed

expectations, the proximity of [the CFQ]'s statements to the
end of the quarter and the release of results, [the CFOJ's
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position as Chief Financial Officeand most significantly,

the content and context of the statements themselves, give

rise to a strong inference that [the CFO] either knew at the

time that his statements were false or was reckless in

disregarding the obvious risk of misleading the public.
Thus, the Third Circuit found that “the context (specific analyst queries) and cordesis{ent
denals of unusual discounting) tife statements,” supported the inference that the statements were
made with scienterld. at 270. Similarly, here, the content and context of many of the Individual
Defendard’ statements suggest thtte Invidual Defendantswere, at best, reckless to the
possibility that their statements might mislead invesi#ssalleged, Dedndants repeatedly stated
that the Talc Products were safethe face of contrary test results, various lawsuits, and inquiries
from the pressand nvestors. Een following two highkfigure jury verdicts linking the Talc
Products to ovarian cancer and mesothelioma, Defenddietgedly doubled down on their
insistence that the Talc Products were “safe” and “asbestos 8aeli repeatedunqualified
assurancesin the faceof inquiries from the public, and regulatory authorities such as the FDA,
further suggedhat Defendants’ statements were made with scieédéstJtesch 385 F. Supp. 3d
at 422 (finding that efendants repeated statements the face of ongoing investigations by
multiple law enforcement bodies, and questions from the press, were indicative of
scienter.) Roofer's Pension Fun@018 WL 3601229, at *2{finding thatdefendant repeatedly
responded to questions fraamalystsand investors with answers that indicated knowledge about
drug pricing and the repeated inquiries “would have made Defendants aware of the importance of
generic drug pricing to the investing public” thus defenddatkire to disclose certain facts in its
answers was indicativef scienter)

The internal acknowledgements of potential asbestos contamination in the GdctBr

and the potential association with mesothelioma and ovarian cancer, coupled withttieg thet
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allegations of fraud relate to a core operation of the Compuafigctively, give rise to a strong
inference of scienter. Defendants assert that the facts as alleged supporbéeptdasence that
after reviewing the scientific data, defendanoncluded that the bulk of the evidence supports
their position that the Company’s Talc Products were safe. However, taken toBé&ihmeiff's
allegations areds compelling as [that] opposing inference of nonfraudulent infEelidbs,551
U.S. at 34. Although Plaintiff has failed to specifically allege scienter as to certain diies
and those defendants are dismissed from the lawsuit, Plaintiff's contentions, whietereohs
holistically, satisfy the scientepleading standarcs to Gorsky, Goodrich, Casalvieri, and
Glasgow. Plaintiff has sufficiently pled that, at minimunthose defendantead access to
information which would have alerted them to #iiegedlymisleading nature of their statements
regarding the safety of the productss alleged, Defendants either failedadequatelynvestigate
the potential dangers of the Talc Products, despite its obvious relevance evidenced bythe ma
public inquiries, or Defendants knowingly disseminatdskfand inaccurate statements as part of
along standing fraudulent scheme. Either scenario is suggestive of sciéet€ourt finds that
viewing Plaintiff's scienter allegations, holistically, Plaintitisadequately pled scienter.
iii. Loss Causation

Under thePSLRA, ‘the plaintiff shall have the burden of proving that the act or omission
of the defendant... caused the loss for which the plaintiff seeks to recover damages.” 15 U.S.C.
§ 78u4(b)(4). “The loss causation inquiry asks whether the misreptason or omission
proximately caused the economic lo9d¢Cabe v. Ernst & Young, LL494 F.3d 418, 426 (3d
Cir.2007). The fact that a misrepresentation occurred and the share gtintedds not enough.
Id. Instead, to demonstrate loss causation, the plaintiff must prove “that the untrithsease

reasonably direct, or proximate, way responsible for his It ¢§uotation and citation omitted).
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The Third Circuit has repeatedly cautioned that thisrdetation is a facsensitive inquiry
typically left to the trier of factSee idat 427 n. 4EP Medsystems, Inc. v. EchoCath, 1285
F.3d 865, 884 (3d Cir. 2000).

As an initial matter, the parties dispute the applicable pleading standard fyrimga
whether Plaintiff has adequately pled loss causation. Defendants urge this@dalibiv the
clear trend” and apply the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) toffRldmgs
causation allegations, consistent with the approach utilizetthéoyourth, Seventh, Ninth, and
Eleventh Circuits. Def. Br. at 50 n. 37. However, Plaintiff contends that under @ylé ‘®eed
only provide a ‘short and plain statement’ giving defendants ‘some indication of the loss and the
causal connection thathey have] in mind,” PI. Br. at 51 (quotidgura, 544 U.S. at 336), and
that it has adequately alleged loss causation under either statdlaati52 n.45.

In Dura, the Supreme Court reversed a Ninth Circuit decision that had found that a Section
10(b) complaint adequately pleaded loss causation merely by alleging that the phieseturity
on the date of purchase was inflated because of the defendants’ misrepresebdidhs. at
338. In analyzing the plaintiff's claims, the Court suggested that the pleading standass for |
causation was governed by Rule 8(a)(B). at 346. The Court noted that Rule 8(a)(2) merely
requires “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entilezf” and
“assume[d], at least fargument's sake, that neither the [Federal] Rules [of Civil Procedure] nor
the securities statutes impose any special further requirement in respéet pteading of
proximate causation or economic losdd. at 346 (finding that plaintiffs’ complaint failed to
allege loss causation under Rule 8 where it contained only one sentence addressinglass)caus
Since that time, the Supreme Court has not provided any further guidance as to thelepplica

pleadng standard for analyzing loss causation, and the Circuit courts have reached diverging
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conclusions. As Defendants note, the Fourth Seventh, Ninth, and Eleventh Circuits apply Rule
9(b) as the pleading standard for loss causafee. e.gIn re Mutual Funds Investment Litigation
566 F.3d 111, 1120 (4th Cir. 2009]noting that prior to the enactment of the PSLRA, Section
10(b) fraud claims were governed by Rule 9, and holding that, because the PSLRA does not govern
the analysis of loss causation or reliance, the traditional pleading requiremenatutbrckaims
applies to loss causationlricontinental Industries, Ltd. v. PricewaterhouseCoopkts$, 475
F.3d 824, 842 (7th Cir. 2007applying Rule 9(b) as the pleading standard for all elements of a
securities fraud claim without discussior@regon Public Employees Retirement Fund v. Apollo
Group Inc.,774 F.3d 598, 605 (9th Cir. 201@olding that Rule 9(b) is the appropriate pleading
standard for loss causation because 1) the rule “applies to all circumstacoesyain law fraud”
and since securities fraud is derived from common law fraud, it makes sense to aggin¢he
pleading standard; 2) “Rule 9(b) clearly states that ‘[ijn alleging fraud stakd, a party must
state with particularity the mdumstances constituting fraud or mistake” and *“[lJoss causation is
part of the circumstances constituting fraud because, without it, a clainowities fraud does
not exist” and 3) applying rule Rule 9(b) provides for a “consistent standard” forsiagses
pleadings in a Rule 10(b) actior§apssov v. Health Mgmt. Assocs., 1608 F. App'x 855, 861
(11th Cir. 2015)applying Rule 9(b) as the pleading standard for all elements of a securiiigs fra
claim without discussion).

However, the Fifth and Second Circuits generally apply Rule 8(a) to determine whether a
plaintiff has adequately pled loss causati®ee.ormand v. US Unwired, Inc565 F.3d 228, 258
(5th Cir. 2009) (holding that in light @ura andTwombly in order to establish loss causatian,
plaintiff must plead a “facially ‘plausible’ causal relationship between thelfiant statements

or omissions and plaintiff's economic losd”freley Fin. (Jersey) No. 3 Ltd. v. Wells Fargo.Sec
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LLC, 797 F.3d 160, 183 (2d Cir. 2016joting that thdevel of particularity necessary to plead
loss causation “is an open question” in the Second Circuit but also noting that pleading loss
causation is “not a heavy burdenWilamowsky v. Tak&wo Interactive Software, Inc818
F.Supp. 2d 744, 753 & n. 7 (S.D.N.Y.2011) (“The question of whether Rule 9(b) applies to loss
causation has not yet been definitively addressed by the Second Circuit, but the vaist ofiajor
courts in this district have required that loss causation only meet the noticemesuige Rule

8."). Moreoveralthough the Third Circuit has not yet addressed the issue, courts of this district
have consistently analyzed loss causation under Rule 8(a), rather than the mgentstri
requirements of Rule 9(b)Seeln re Galena Biopharma, Inc. Sec. LitigNo. 17929, 2019 WL
5957859, at *18 (D.N.J. Nov. 12, 201@)a] [p]laintiff need not satisfy the PSLRA or Rule
9(b)’s heightenegleadingrequirements to survive a motion to dismisslémscausation; rather,

a plaintiff need only satisfy the requirements of Rule 8(a)(2)” (qudiagl Junior Baseball
League v. Pharmanet Dev. Grp. In€20 F. Supp. 2d 517, 558 (D.N.J. 2010)(Wolfsoy h)re
Allergan Generic Drug Pricing Sec. LitigNo. 169449, 2019 WL 3562134, at *13 (D.N.J. Aug.

6, 2019)(“The PSLRA does not impose dmyghtened pleadingtandards on the element

of loss @usation; ordinary pleading rules apply” (quotidgra, 544 U.S. at 347)Hull v. Glob.

Digital Sols., Inc.,No. 165153, 2017 WL 6493148, at *11 (D.N.J. Dec. 2017) (Wolfson
J.)(“Importantly,alleging loss causation or economic loss does not reqplesrdiff to satisfy the
heightened pleading standard under Rule 9(IiN&t'| Junior Baseball Leagyer20 F. Supp. 2d

at 558 (“Plaintiff need not satisfy the PSLRA or Rule 9(b)'s heightened pleading recpits to
survive a motion to dismiss for loss causation; rather, a plaintiff need only satisfgtivements

of Rule 8(a)(2)");Dudley v. HaubNo. 115196, 2013 WL 1845519, at *18 (D.N.J. Apr. 30, 2013)

(“Allegations of loss causation are not subject to the heightened pleading mezntseof Rule

60



9(b) and the PSLRA...."). In light of the Supreme Court’s reasonibgiia, and absent guidance
from the Third Circuit, this Court aligns itself with the decisions of its sisténalss as well as
this Courts prior decisions on this issue, and applies the standard provided by Rule 8(a) to

Plaintiff's loss causation allegations.

Plaintiff relies on six disclosure® showloss causatianthe Bernstein Liebhard Press
Releaseon September 27, 2017; th@nzoLaw 360 Article on January 30, 2018; thanzo
Metholeliona.net Articleon February 5, 2018; the Beasley Allen Press Releadeebruary 7,
2018; thelnghamVerdict on July 12, 2018; and the Reuters Article December 14, 2018,
Plaintiff contends that &dr each of these disclosurelJ’s stock price suffered statistically

significant declines. A 421.

Defendants challenge loss causation on two bd&3est, that none of the alleged corrective
disclosures revealetinew’ information, but ratherthe allged disclosures repeated or shed
additional light on longstanding allegations of asbestos contamination in J&J’s TalctBaaldic
a link between talc and cancebDef. Br. at 4857. In Defendantsview, none of the alleged
disclosurescontain material information which was disclosed for the first tinagher, the
identifieddisclosuresnerely profferadditional details about previously available informaaod
donot constitutecorrectivedisclosures Def. Br. at 5155. FurthermorePefendants conterttiat
Plaintiff cannotestablish thathe Class Members’ allegddsses are attributable to the alleged
misrepresentations rather thasvérall market trends and market reaction to litigation rig#t."at
58-60. For example, Defendants note that on February 5 and Februar$83,t2@ Dow Jones
Industrial Average dropped significantly, suggesting that arngydasthose dates “can only be
reasonably attributed to marketde phenomena that day” rather than the alleged corrective
disclosures.Id. at 60.
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The Court first, addresses Defendahtontention that the identified disclosures did not
proffer “new” information.” “A corrective disclosure need not take a particular form; it is the
exposure of the falsity of the fraudulent representation that is the criticgloo@mt.” Hull v.

Glob. Digital Sols., Inc.No. 165153, 2017 WL 6493148, at *14Ultimately, “so long aghe
plaintiff alleges that the public disclosure reveals that the defendant cpmzale false claims,

and that based on those disclosures, a corresponding drop in stock price occurred, logs causati
is adequately pled.td. Viewed in the light most favable to Plaintiff, the facts as alleged suggest
thatthe disclosure do not merely rep@abrmation Although many othe alleged disclosures
address the same subject mattd&J’'s alleged knowledge of asbestos in its Talc Products and
the ensuing scheme to prevent the dissemination of that informatiach provided new
information as to the seriousness and extent of the Compalfggedfraud. See In re Bradley
Pharm., Inc. Sec. Litig421 F. Supp. 2d 822, 828 (D.N.J. 2006) (finding that the revelation of

the truth about the Company’s misrepresentations “did not take the form of a single unitary
disclosure, but occurred through a series of disclosing events1”’}hat regard, somef the
disclosures clearly profess that the information being conveyed is new. As allegedutbes

article purportedly indicated that it was disclosing new information from intd&habdocuments

" In support of their argument that the disclosures did not convey “new” information, Defendants
cite Lanzofor the proposition that “a large volume of [information regarding the product liability
lawsuits ] including copious internal testing documentgere cited and attached as exhibits in
support of publicly filed motions” prior to two of the alleged cotikerdisclosures identified by
Plaintiff, the release of the Bloomberg article and the Bernstein Lielblrass Releas&eeDef.

Br. at 52. In its opposition to Defendants’ motion for judicial notice, Plaintiff movesike st
Defendant’s reference tioanzo pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f), arguing that
“the reference is confusing, immaterial and should not be considered.” PI. Judicca Blotat

14. Plaintiff further argues that the citationl@anzo“lacks meaning” and notes that there is no
docket entryor dateassociated with the citation provideld. The Court denies Plaintiff’s motion

to strike and finds it appropriate to consilanzoin connection with Defendant’s argument that
certain allegedly damaging disclosures wereaaly publicly available.
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which were being “reported to the public for the firste.” §223-232. Accordingly, the Court
finds that Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged that eachhad identified disclosures provided new
information®

Furthermore, Defendant’s argument that the drop in J&J’s stock price whatatile to
other causes such as market trends and the market’s reaction to litigatios pigmature.
Plaintiff's theory of losscausationis that J&Jmadefraudulent misre@semationsand that the
truth was slowly revealed throughout the course of 2017 and 2018, culminating wRsutbes
Article revealed thérue extent of the Company’s alleged deceptiofrs support of that theory,
Plaintiff hasidentified specific disclosurex new information and corresponding impacts on stock
price. Each of the alleged drops in stock price is allegedly supported by an event study which
found the drops to be statistically significant and isolated the impact of the disclosur

At this stage plaintiff has sufficiently alleged loss causatignby alleging that after
Defendants’ purportedly misleading statements and fraudulent schemewsated, J&J's stock
prices decreased significanthAlthough Defendantgoint to other possible bas for the decline
in stock price, such factual dispute cannot be adjudicated at this earbfion to dismisstage

of the litigation SeeOmanoff v. Patrizio & Zhao LLQ\No. 14723, 2015 WL 1472566, at *6

8 Defendants also contend that the articles about jury vermhetsot constitute a corrective
disclosure becausélaintiffs cannot use a jury verdict as a conclusive disclosure of the ‘truth.”
Def. Br. at 5758 (collecting cases). However, none of the cases cited by Defendant stand for the
proposition that a jury verdict cannot, as a matter of law, constitute the disclosurev of ne
information. Thelnghamjury verdict was allegedly the first to award damages to a plaintiff
linking ovarian cancer to asbestos in J&J's talc products, rather than to the ¢flcA®sT213.

To the extent the jury verdict or documents publicly released during the lawsuit contained new
information regarding an association between asbestos andmancer, and the existence of
asbestos in the Company’s Talc Products — revealingllggedfalsity of Defendants’ assertions

to the contrary — the jury verdict may have been a corrective disclosure.
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(D.N.J. Mar. 312015) (rejecting defendants argument, on a motion to dismiss, that decline in
share price was attributable to other weaknesses disclosed by the company aepauseat
raised “a factual dispute that cannot be adjudicated at this early stagedydingly,Plaintiff has
sufficiently pled loss causation.
a. The Class Period

Defendants also seek to limit the Class Period to February 7, 2018, rathBetieanber
13, 2018 Def. Br. at 6062. Defendants contend that the allegations relating to events occurring
after February 7, 2018the date when this lawsuit was initiatedre not plausible because they
could not have “been material to investorBé&f. Br. at 61. Defendants argue thabbBEebruary
8, 2018-— when Plaintiff initiated this lawsuit+ the market was fully aware of the allegations
regarding thélalc Productsthus Plaintiff's allegations related to events occurring after that date
could not have “been nexial to investors.”Def. Br.at 61. In Defendants’ vievipllowing the
filing of the Complaint, “no reasonable investor would consider any information allegedly
misstated or omitted form Defendants’ statements to ‘significantly alter the total mix of
information available” 1d. Further, Defendants contend that Plaintiff's theory of the case is
identical to the one alleged in timétial complaint thatJ&J has known for decades that its talc
products . . . include asbestos fibers and that the exposure to those filmrgssaavarian cancer
and mesothelioma,” and that Defendants allegedly “misrepresented and dadextlose the
danger that J&J's talc products posed to consumers . . . .” rendering it implausible tbat, “aft
Plaintiffs had enough knowledge to file thelaim, additional details could have significantly
altered the total mix of information available or served as a corrective diglofef. Br. at 24

25 (comparing ECF No.1 § 2 with AC 11 1-14).
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Plaintiff contends that the Class Period is appropbatause Plaintiff alleges that the true
extent of Defendants’ several decades long scheme was revealed for theditst timee Reuters
article published on December 14, 20B8. Br. at 64.Furthermore, ifPlaintiff's view, the theory
of the operative complaint has changed significantly since the, now moot, initial atimpla
supporting the extension of ti@ass Period in light of the complex scheme detailed in the
AmendedComplaint. Id. Accordingly, “consideringll the information provided to the market
after February 7, 2018, ‘[p]articularly in light of defendants’ repeated’ reagsstatements, ‘it
was reasonable for plaintiffs to rely upon defendants’ statements until the pablioathe’
Reuters report.”Pl. Br. at 64-65 (quotinBharmacia 554 F.3d at 351-52).

As a general rulejdbility based on material misrepresentations or omissions is terminated
“when curative information is publicly announced or otherwise effectively dissiaiindn re
Data Acess Sys. Sec. Litjgl03 F.R.D. 130, 143 (D.N.J.1984) (quotMgFarland v. Memorex
Corp, 96 F.R.D. 357, 364 (N.D. Cal. 1982))\Whether a release of corrective information
terminates liability based on misrepresentations or omissions is a determinatvameti€r the
facts which underlie the gravamen of the plaintiff's complaint continue to repeeseasonable
basis on which amdividual purchaser or the market would relyid. “[D]oubts regarding the
reasonableness of the reliance should be resolved in favor of extending the class lpefmtitig
In re LTV Sec. Litig 88 F.R.D. 134, 147 (N.D.Tex. 1980)).

At this juncure, the Court finds that theigsufficient doubt as to whether the true extent
of the Company’sllegedfraudulent scheme was revealed prior to the publication of the Reuters
articleonDecember 14, 2014In re Alstom SA Sec. Liti®253 F.R.D. 266, 292 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)
(finding that class period should close optantiffs had received sufficient notice regardihg

facts giving rise to fraud, “which in the exercise of reasonable diligence, wouldeubizeactual
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knowledge,” rather than on earlier date when accounting improprieties ve¢revealed, because
“[a]t that time, neither the full financial impact of the alleged improprieties ndatii¢hat it was
allegedly attributable to fraud by Alstom senior corporate officials had beene@viaAlthough
the alleged asbestos contamination and connection betoxsmnn cancer and taland
mesothelioma and talbad already been publictiscussed and several product liability lawsuits
had already been filed prior to the publication of the Reattide, Plaintiff has alleged th#te
Company continued to issue public denials of wrongdoing and repeateuhed that its products
were “safe” and “do not contain asbestos or caussothelioma See e.gAC 18379-380, 382,
390. As pled, it was the publication of the Reuters artitat directly refuted Defendants’
allegedly false statements and provided neleforeseen internalCompanydocuments that
detailed J&J’s knowledge of the asbestos in the Company’s talcum powder and J&J'sitingsta
fraudulent scheme to cover it upd. at §223. Acording to Plaintiff the Reuters article kicked
off a crisis for J&J by exposing new details and analysis regarding the Comjdleged
fraudulentschemdo conceal the truth abotite safety ofts Talc Products. ThBReutersreport,
itself, even professes that the information being reported was novel, stating “flaperiian of
the documents have been produced at trial and cited in media reports. Many were shielded from
public view by court orders that allowed J&J to turn over thousands of documents it designated as
confidential. Much of their contents is reported here for the first tinhg.’at223. Accordingly,
the Court finds that December 14, 2018, the publication date oRéugersarticle, is an
appropriate conclusion for the Class Period.
b. The Section 20(a)Claims
Plaintiff also alleges that Individual Defendants are liable under Section @0¢he

Exchange Act. This statute reads, in pertinent part:
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§ 78t. Liability of controlling persons and persons who aid and abet violations

(a) Joint and several liakiy

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable under any

provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation thereunder shall also be
liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person
to any person to whom such controlled person is liable ...

15 U.S.C. § 78t(ajee also Supremd38 F.3d at 285 (discussing the statute). However, “liability
under Section 20(a) is derivative of an underlying violation of Section 10(b) by the controlled
person. Avayg 564 F.3d at 252 (citinth re Alpharma Sec. Litig 372 F.3d 137, 153 (3d Cir.
2004)).Where aPlaintiff fails to sufficiently plead a claim under Section 10(b), it is “impdssib

to hold the [Individual Defendants] liable under 8 20(&hapirqg 964 F.2d at 279.

Because Defendantsnly arguments in support of dismissal of the Section 20(a) claim is
that Plaintiff failed to plead a claim under Section 10(b), Defentdamttson to dismiss the Section
20(a) claim is also denieddowever, because Plaintiff has failed to adequately pleaection
10(b) claim against Caruso, Peterson, and Sneed, the Section 20(aagkimst those defendants
aredismissed, as well.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, DefenslaMintion to Dismiss isdenied in part and
granted in partPlaintiff’'s Section 10(b) and RulEDb—5claimis limited toDefendants’ statements
regarding the safety of its Talc Produttse “asbestofree” nature of its talcand the Company’s
commitment & product safety, quality assurance, and reseaRlaintiff's claims based upon
Defendants’ alleged misstatements about the viability of the Product Liabilityitanare

dismissed. Furthermore, because Plaintiff has not adequately alleged facts tsuggestrong
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inference of scienter as to defendants Caruso, Peterson, andtBosedefendants are dismissed
from the lawsuit.

Although the Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately alleged, for purposes of this motion
to dismissand assuming the facts pled to be tthat Defendants made materially misleading or
false statements regarding the safety of J&J's Talc Products, sulaingeshould not be construed
as the Court’s acknowledgment of the underlying merits of the substafiairmiff's claims,
including whether the scientific evidence supports Plaintiff's allegations. Amh @
determination must be based upon a full record and not upon the pleadings alone.

Date: Decembe?7, 2019
/sl Freda L. Wolfson

Hon. Freda L. Wolfson
U.S. ChiefDistrict Judge
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